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Accelerating Information Access

Dear Fellow Shareholder,

Throughout the past year, the Company has been furthermg its document imaging initiatives. This process
includes copying/transferring paper, microfilm or other medium and tra.nsfemng them into digital archived
and indexed documents that can be accessed by any authorized usér.” The benefits are multifold and
provide for instant workflow productivity, the reduction of paper files and provides the means for
municipal and state agencies to meet their legal mandates on the maintenance of official records.

Today, we are pro{fiding or already have provided imaging solutions to muﬁiéipalities and others in
Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Maryland and in Virginia with the United States Army. It is through these

successful implementations and reference-able customers that we will be able to further our imaging
business and solutions.

We continue to offer our data storage solutions, which are being used by many satisfied clients, such as the
American Museum of Natural History in New York whlch utilizes our solutions to consolidate, serve and
store their many data resources. :

As you know, the data storage industry has continued to suffer from a decline in revenues. Unfortunately,
we have not been immune to these reduced purchases in the commercial markets we serve. Storage Engine
continues to offer what we believe to be the best, cost competitive and feature rich data storage technology
in the industry. However, despite these extraordinarily competitive times, we remain focused on our new
and existing customers and will continue to provide the best products and services available as we pursue
every.opportunity.

We continued to trim resources in order to focus on our target markets and sclutions while reducing costs.
The 2002 plan fell short of our expectations. The reality has been that the storage industry has been hit by
significantly reduced spending. This combined with our imaging business growing at a slower pace than
anticipated, has resulted in reduced revenues and losses for this past yeax.

Today, we continue the sales of our storage solutlons (whlch are used in our imaging market), while we
further our growing imaging business and successes in government and comimercial markets. Our goal is to
remain focused on our target markets and provide the best solutions available, which will enable us to build
revenue and return to profitability as quickly as p0551ble

Let me thank you, our shareholders, for your continued trust in Storage Engine. Allow me to thank our
Board of Directors for helping’ us through this difficult time along with our dedicated and talented
employees for their dedication and continued efforts needed in order to meet our goals.

GREGG AZCUY
President and Chief Executive Officer -




FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

The statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are not historical facts are
forward-looking statements (as such term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995). Such forward-looking statements may be identified by, among other things, the use of forward-
looking terminology such as "believes,” “expects,” “may," "will," "should” or "anticipates” or the negative
thereof or other variations thereon or comparable terminology, or by discussions of strategy that involve
risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements, such as statements regarding anticipated future
revenues, capital expenditures, research and development expenditures and other statements regarding
matters that are not historical fagts, involve predictions. Storage Engine, Inc.'s ("SEL" the "Company,”
"We," "Us,” or "Our") actual resuls, performance or achievements could differ materially from the results
expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K. Factors that could cause actual results, performance or achievements to vary materially include, but are
not limited to: our liquidity and capital resources, component quality and availability, changes in business
conditions, changes in our sales strategy and product development plans, changes in the data storage or
network marketplace, competition between the Company and other companies that may be entering the
data storage host/network attached markets, competitive pricing pressures, continued market acceptance of
our open systems products, delays in the development of new technology, and changes in cusﬁomer buying
pattemns.

Explanatory Note: All dollar amounts, other than share and per share amounts, are in thousands.

BUSINESS
 General

The Company is a provider of document imaging solutions and fault tolerant, cost effective
enterprise data storage solutions that serve a wide range of business and government markets. We believe
we have significant experience with handling, designing, engineering, architecting, installing and
implementing information storage solutions to solve data storage needs. Having manufactured products for
OEMs as well as end users, our knowledge and quality practices ensure that our data storage products
provide the reliability demanded by our customers. Our goal is to meet and exceed our customers’
. expectations. The Company earned ISO 9001 certification in 1999 and has conunued o maintain this
certification status of quality. .

Through our knowledge of Direct Attached Storage (DAS), Network Attached Storage (NAS),

Storage Area Networks (SAN) and the centralization of those technologies/resources, including disaster

recovery and backup technologies, we seek to d&sngn and implement the optimeal storage solution to meet

users’ needs, including our date intensive imaging customers. All of our products and services are

measured to exacting standards while offering considerable savings. We offer specific solutions, as well as

comprehensive information management systems, that make storing, capturing end distributing information

easy and affordable, including document conversions, workflow and day forward solutions for private or

" web enabled content. Cur product solutions address centralized data storage, server consohdam«m, backup
enhancements and cemmhzed management of new and existing data storage resources.

We offer complete information storage implementations, from the beginning of the planning
process through successful implementation ~ including 24x7 service and support — ail from a single
provider.

Our storage products and services include our Synchronix and Synchronism product lines which
supplies our customers with fault tolerant storage solutions that store, protect and ensure access {6 an
organization's critical data. Cur products include high performance, fault tolerant storage subsystems that




meet 2 wide range of customer applications for Open Systems-based networks, such as NT, MS, UNIX and
Linux operating systems and our Raven family of integrated solutions with Sun processors and storage.
Our fault tolerant enterprise storage solutions address all three storage markets: DAS, in which the storage
device is connected directly to a server; NAS, in which the storage device is installed on a network; SAN,
in which the storage device is used in a specialized network. These conmectivity options provide our
customers.the fiexibility 1o choose and depioy a pariiculer storage solution to meet their needs. As data
requirements change, customers can migrate their existing storage investments to different comnectivity
options. We believe our products reduce the total cost of ownership of data storage by allowing end users
to use the products across various operating systems.

QOur imaging solutions focus. on providing our customers with a bundled suite of preducts and
services that solve all of their imaging requirements. In addition to our storage suite of products, we offer a
number of services that provide our customers with 2 total solution for their imaging needs. Such services
include on/off site scanning of historical and day forward critical documents, data base management,
network and web based services and through strategic .partners, sofiware that allows our customers to
manage the scanned documents including web based enablers and search engine capabilities.

. A number of products resulted from our product development efforts over the last five years,
including our Synchronism Storage Management System and Synchronix product lines. Our direct sales
force concentrates on sales to commercial end users and Federal and local government end users, including
imaging services. Qur direct sales force aiso works with selected Value Added Resellers ("VARs") and
assists them in their sales to commercial end users.

On August 20, 2002, we announced our iConsole Synchronism product. The SYSM iConsole
features many storage applications such as: fault tolerance, remote replication, improved backups,
virtualization, snapshot copy, ceniralization, and call home alerts. The SYSM iConsole is easy to
implement and provides an intuitive interface, This tool will enable many IT managers to get control of
their storage and server infrastructure and improve the quality of service. We believe the SYSM iConsole
is an ideal solution to ail of today’s issues facing System and Daia Managers.

We were incorporated in New Jersey in February 1980 under the name The Word Store, Inc. Cur
name was changed to ECCS, Inc. in November 1985. Our name was changed to Storage Engine, Inc. in
July 2001. The address of the Company’s principal corporate offices is One Sheila Drive, Tinton Falls,
New Jersey 07724 and our telephone number is 732-747-6995.

The Storage Engine Approach

We believe that our storage and imaging solutions appeal to ﬂhé market by providing an enhanced
combination of performance and features, which we expect to deliver increasingly through software-based
product offerings. The following are the key atiributes of our approach:

e  Range of Migratable Solutions. We offer a range of products to operate in DAS, NAS and SAN
environments which allows our customers to utilize the storage architecture that best suits their
requirements. As the data storage needs of our customers expand and evolve, our comprehensive

solutions can be redeployed from one environment to another, thereby protectmg a customer’s
storage mvestment

¢ Scalability. Our products provide maximum scalability as a customer's needs change by using a
modular approach in designing and configuring our storage solutions. Customers can purchase
from 100 gigabytes to multiple terabytes, adding storage capacity as required. This scalability
allows us to provide solutions for a broad range of storage requxremems from fow capacity users
to enterprise-wide environments.




o Competitive Pricing. Our products generalty provide end users with the same features as similar
solutions, but at a lower cost. - In addition, our modular- pmducﬁ approach offers customers more
- aftractive initial entry costs.

e Enhanced Data Avaﬂabnhty Cur pmductts enhance data availability by offering army«based
failover, fzult tolerant, multiple host connectivity across various Open Systems platforms, on-line
firmware upgrades, on-line systems maintenance and hot-swappeable component replacement.

o High Level of [/O Performance. Our products provide a high level of /O performance by using (i)
multiple RAID levels that possess varying performance characteristics, (ii) larger cache sizes to
improve speed and (m) solid state disks for dedhcaned memory for frequently accessed
information.

e Enhanced Datz Administration Capabilities. Cur products utilize an intuitive, customizable GUI

" (graphical user interface) which allows for the remote monitoring and management of virtually all
functions, including system configuration, cache policies and data rebuild upon system failure.
These features allow for the management of data by both sophisticated and unsophisticated users.
Our products also provide automatic notification of system ervors via a "call homie" feature that
automatically notifies our customer service personnel by e-mail and paging.

o Imaging We offer a complete suite of imaging services including our Synchrenix and
Synchronection product lines. We combine all of the features of our scalability, enhanced data
availability and competitive pricing, coupled with our imaging services and software products.

Strategy

Our objective is to further establish and solidify our position in the raumdﬂy growing Open Systems
storage market. Qur strategic focus centers around serving users whose mission critical applications
require high performance and high reliability storage products. We intend to establish the Company as the
data storage solution of choice for companies with growing and mcreasmgﬂy comp}lex data needs. Qur
stra.megy incorporates the following key elements;

o  Focus Our Direct Sales Channel. To better address commercial customers and Federal and local
government markets, we imntend 1o refine and expand our direct sales team where needed. We
believe that a well trained and effective direct sales force will enable us to offer consultative sales
and better address customer needs for the markets we serve as well as identify current and future
end user needs and enhance opportunities for follow-on sales.

e Target Commercial Customers With Growing Storage Requirements. We intend to concentrate
our sales efforts on commercial customers with data intensive applications and data rich
computing environments, Within the commercial end user market, we will target companies
conducting e-commerce, with 2 specific emphasis on document imaging applications.

o Superior Pre-Sale and Posi-Sale Support. We have significant technical resources availeble to
assist the sales team and customers in designing and implementing specific data storage solutions
needed by the customer. We believe our superior support and service enhances our ability to
idenﬁfy and satisfy our customers' needs.

.o Vertical Imaging Market. We have identified a vertical imaging market that we are pursuing for
cur solutions and those of our parmers In this market we are providing & seamless data storage
approach for document management and handling with current technology in a cost effective and
centralized means.  With the addition of several new hires with long term experience in the
document imaging business, we believe we have accelerated our ability to provide world class
imaging services solutions.




Technological Edge. We believe that we possess substantial technical expertise gained through
years of internal research and development, particularly in the area of fault tolerant enterprise
storage solutions. We intend to improve upon our current product oﬁemgs as well as develop or
" obtain new products for data storage.

Reduce Total Cost of Ownership. We believe we deliver solutions that reduce the total cost of
ownership of data storage. Such cost includes the purchase price and maintenance and
management costs over one vear. Our competitively priced, high performance enterprise storage
solutions are scalable and migrate-able across various operating systems. A customer can further
protect its storage investment by redeploying our solutions io and from NAS, DAS and SAN.

Products and Technology

Our core technology provides data-intensive environments with protection against the loss of

critical data and provtdes the performance and reliability characteristics of more expensive solutions at a
more competitive price. Qur products offer users:

]

<]

the a,bility to deploy in majo_r Open Systéms-based networks, such &s NT, MS, UNIX and Linux;
scalable storage capacity;

fault tolerance;

fast data transfer rates; and

ease of storage sysiem management,

Our families of products include the following:

Synchronism Storage Management System, which utilizes our Synchronix 3000 product, and is an

enterprise class storage solution/system that aggrepates, virtualizes and manages diverse storage resources
and provisions these resources over IP. Synchronism provides full redundancy and unifies NAS and SAN
to provide the best of SAN-type storage management, while mtegrmg NAS applications in 3 more
extensive and accessidle storage network.

Synchronism offers the following major features:

e storage virtualization which allows for the pooling of an enterprise's daia storage over
different physical storage devices;

" @ SAN over IP which allows a user to incorporate our SAN offering using Ethernet-based
networks such as LANS {local area networks) and WANS (wide area networks) or fibre;

o remote replication/disaster recovery,;
o  zerc-impact back-up; and
e  centralized management.

We announced our iConsole Synchronism on August 20, 2002. The SYSM iConsole features

many storage applications such as: fault tolerance, remote replication, improved backups, virtualization,
snapshot copy, centralization, and call home alerts. The SYSM iConsole is easy to implement and provides
an intuitive interface. This (ool will enable IT many managers to get control of their storage and server




infrastructure and improve the quality of service. We believe the SYSM iConsole is an ideal solution to all
of today’s issues facing System znd Data Mmagers .

SYSM iConsole Models are the: SYSM iConsole 4000 for the data center; SYSM iConsole 4000 HA
for high availability, SYSM iConsole 4000 DR for disaster recovery; and SYSM iConsole 4060 TA for
tape/baclup eshancement.

Synchronix 3000 ﬁs our fault-tolerant data storage engine introduced in September 2000 that delivers
superior performance in spesd, storage capacity, data protection and storage management, along with the
advantages of the full-fibre connectivity in the SAN as well as. DAS and NAS environments. The Synchronix
3000 achieves real large-block tramsfer speeds of 1S90MB per second for two channels and storage capacity of
65TB with three standard 70" cabinets. In addition, the Synchronix 3600 incorporates all of the major features
that are found in our Synchronix 2000 product line.

LSI storage products are offered by ushcluding the B4600 2GB fibre array, the industry's fastest
performing array, the E4400, and the Continustor product.

‘ Raven is our product family that offers powerful, flexible, all-in-one server storage for departmental,
Internet and Intranet reguirements. The Raven products are so}d primarily to the U.S. Air Force. The Raven
products offer high performance and a scalable server which provides for continuous availability with
integrated RAID protection. '

Products and Solutions under development. We continue to enhance our current produet
offerings, primarily through integration of third party hardware and software for our Synchronism and
Synchronix families of products as well as our imaging vertical solutions.

Document Imaging

We have focused our solutions on the need for rapid, uninterrupted access to information. Qur
solutions provide first rate results in cost effective document imaging. With all of the variables and choices
available in data and document menagement, the only criteria anyone agrees on is that the system always
must be up and running. We beliéve our products are state-of-the-art and provide semﬂess continuous
availability of data and documents.

We, along with our selected strategic partmers, provide an efficient and economic alternative
available to the “how and what” question in managing an ever-growing quantity of paper and microfilm
documents. Document imaging alleviates most of the burden, whether facility or economic, in handling the
paper and microfilm. Our solution will store and retrieve documents much faster, less expensively, and
more easily than the manually processed paper and fiftm.

Cur izmalgmg vertical focus provides our customers with a bundled suite of products and services
that solve all of their imaging requirements. . In addition to ow Synchronix suite of products, we offer a
number of services that provide our customers with a total solution for their imaging needs. Such services
include on/off site scanming of historical and day forward critical documents, data base management,
network and web based services and through sirategic partners, sofiware that allows our customers to
manage the scanned docurments inciuding web based enablers and search engine capabilities.

We developed this imaging offering through our experience of design, manufacturing and
integration of affordable leading edge, fault tolerant data storage solutions and services for government and
industry. We have achieved our customers” design goals in making our storage solutions fault tolerant with
optional replication.. By providing superior digital imaging technology, we are quickly gaining recognition
‘in the document conversion market. We believe our solutions provide reliability and durability in
document management and refrieval. .




We believe the concept of document imaging does not have to be complicated. We offer a highly
efficient and scalable solution to meet our customer’s needs. In the government segment, public buildings
were not originally designed to handle the level of foot traffic necessary to conduct today’s business and
meet the new public access laws. Our imeging solutions enable an immediate realization of cost savings
and efficiencies in space utilization while freeing space up for more logical uses. Documents digitized and
made available over intra/internet connections greatly reduce the need to accommodate foot wraffic or
vehicular traffic/parking. The value of document imaging is the ability to retrieve documents and send
them back to storage until needed again.

Document imaging further improves the way an organization conducts. business. We offer
workflow consultation to speed the productivity of the.customer’s staff. The use of e-documents adds
significant enhancement to paper file workflow. Our imaging solutions offér a fast secure way to transmit
data, provide an audit trail, ensure security, and enable fast search and retrieval of needed documents. In

addition, we can connect. our systems into existing networks and can make this content avau!able to all
authorized users.

We are developing additional technological advances to ﬁmher utilize electronic documents in our
target markets. We believe we have demonstrated expertise in delivering proven information solutions for

years. Our imaging team has the combined experience of digitizing nearly three quaﬂers of g billion pages
of paper and microfiim. . -

The Company initially focused its products and services on @\e local andl county markets for its

imaging solutions. While an important first step, we needed to prove our solutions had a broader imaging
reach, beyond our local market.

We have expanded our efforis into a six state area comprised of New York, Connecticut, New
Jersey, Pennsylvania, Maryland and Virginia Through this period, we became more familiar with the
process that each state follows for procurement, bids and solicitations. In addition, we were able to
determine the identity of our competitors in each arez.

Sales and Marketing

We market our products directly to commercial, Federal and local govemment end users and
indirectly through our select alternate channel partmers.

Direct Sales. Our direct sales efforts focus on commercial and Federal and local government end
user accounts, as well as assisting selected VARs in their sales to these end users. Qur direct sales team
consists of thirteen pecple. We conduct sales and marketing from owr corporate headquarters in New

Jersey and from our offices in a few select other locations. We believe that direct sales has a number of
advantages, including:

o better customer account penetration, loyalty and diversity;
©  opportunities for follow-on sales to our existing customer base;
o opportunities for increased custormer refervals; and

o more accurate identification of current and future end user customer requirements with which to
guide product specification and development efforts.

We plan to concentrate our sales efforts on customers with data intensive computing environments
such as companies conducting e-commerce.

* Indirect Sales Through Alterriate Channel Parters. Gur altemate channel effort is focused on a
select few resellers that possess the knowledge, skill or other benefits to help further the sale of our




products. We continue to identify resellers that will be able to take advantage of our products and/or offer
additional services to end-users. These resellers allow us to market our products on 2 broader basis.

We also offer software and hardware from other vendors in order to design customized storage
solutions and infrastructures needed by our customers.

Customer Support and Service

We provide 24 x 7 technical support services to end users and alternate chamnel partners. Cur
technical support specialists provide three "tiers" or "levels" of support, and are able to diagnose and solve
technical problems, and to assist customers with systems integration and use. Customers have toll-free
telephone access (1-800-2-GET-HLP) to techmical specialists who respond to hardware, software and
applications questions. We track service reports tlrough & customer database which maintains current
status reports as well as historical logs of customer interaction. The "call home" feature of our Synchronix
family of products automatically notifies our customer service personnel of any system failure or problem.
We provide technicel support under annusl maintenance contracts which are offered to all of our
custorners. - Technical support includes problem identification, work-arcund solutions and engineering
services. :

We further differentiate our company by maintaining ISO 9001 registration for our principal
facility. We utilize ISO 9001 standards throughout our organization to consistently maintain high quality
design, development, integration and manufacturing, installation and service processes. Our emphasis on
providing high quality customer service enmhances our sales and marketing efforts. and supplier
relationships.

Competition

We are engaged in fields within the data processing industry that are characterized by a high level
of competition. Competitive factors include:

e relative price/performance;

o product features, quality and reliability;
o speed to market,

¢ adherence to industry standards;

o financial strength; and

®  service, suppor and reputstion.

Many of ocur competitors have financial, technical, manufacturing, sales, marketing and other
resources which are substantially greater than our own. We cannot be certain that we will be able to
continue to compete successfully with existing or new competitors. Recent acquisitions of several of our
competitors by large companies, consolidation of smalier market participants and other market activities
have increased the competition in our marketplace.

In addition, we compete with a broad range of businesses with varying degrees of experience,
resources and development, including established computer manufacturers, systems integrators and
manufacturers of enterprise storege products and networking products. We compete with different
compeanies depending on the specific application or market. With respect to DAS products, EMC Corp.,
along with large server vendors such as Compag and Sun Microsystems, among others, are significant
competitors. In the NAS market, our primary competitor is Network Appliance Inc. As we continue to




introduce new fault tolerant SAN -products, wé expect to compete with 2 number of existing and new
competitors introducing products in this emerging market.

Competitive pricing pressures exist in the data storage market and may in the future have an
adverse effect on our revenues and earnings. Certain competitors have reduced prices in order to preserve
or gain market share. If our competitors continue.to make price cuts, our financial results may be adversely
affected. We believe that pricing pressures are likely to continue.

Our imaging vertical competitors have typically included small imaging orgénizations, consulting
groups, resellers, and larger players like IBM and EDS for msjor project opportunities.

Meanufacturing and Suppliers

- We rely on outside suppliers to supply subassemblies, component parts and computer systems for
resale. Our in-house manufacturing consists pnma.nly of hgm assembly, systems integration, testing and
quality assurance. .

: Certa.in components used in our products are available only from a limited number of sources.
Any delays in obtaining such components could adversely affect our results of operations. We cannot be
certain that material problems will not arise in the future with our vendors that could significantly impede
or interrupt our business. - We cannot be certain that our relationships with our suppliers will continue or
that we would be able to obtain alternative sources of supply without a material disruption in our ability to
prowde products ic our customers if our relatnonshms with our existing suppliers are terminated.

- Werely-on certam dzsmbutors 0 supply us with componem products from Sun Microsystems and
;Seaggte Technologies. Although we believe alternative distributors of these products are available, we
cannot be certain that we can obtain them on a timely and cost-effective basis. Cur primary vendor for
these third party products in 2002 was Nu Horizons. During fiscal 2002, purchases from Nu Horizons
totaled $408, or 24.7%, of our total purchases. We did not have any purchases from Nu Horizons in 2001.
We purchase preducts from Nu Horizons on a purchase order basis. There are no minimum purchase
requirements. This arrangement may be terminated by either party at any time.

The Company has a supply arrangement with Bell Microproducts pursuant to which the Company
orders ﬁ'om Bell Mncroproducts when, and as needed, and on terms negotiated at the time of each such
order. There are no minimum purchase requirements. The arrangement may be terminated by either party
at any time. In 2001 and 2002, purchases from Bell Microproducts totaled approximately $1,822, or
52.7%, and $387 or 23.4%, of all purchases, respectively.

. In February 2003, we. once agam "achieved cemﬁcatlon with the International Standard
Organization for the new ISO 9001-2000 standard. = Since we first attained compliance with ISO 9001-
1994 in February 1999, we have remained compliant themby ensuring strict quality on all of the producis
offered. This certification, which is evaluated regularty, reflects uniform, industry-wide standards of
quality control for manufacturing data storage products. We cannot be certain that we will continue to
meet the industry-accepted standards necessary to maintain ISO 9001 certification. A loss of ISO
certification may adversely impact net sales to customers that require or prefer ISO certification.

Research and Development

We participate in an industry that is subject to rapid technological change, and our ability to
remain competitive depends uporn, among other things, our ability to maintain a technological edge. Asa
result, we have devoted resources 1o product development. Our research and development expendxmres
were $3,386, $1,308 and $683 in 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively. In 2000, $1,274. was capitalized in
accordance with the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 86, "Accounting for the

Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed". Zero was capitalized in 2001 and
2002.




Our research and development expenditures are related to the following projects:

¢ integration of third party hazrdware and soﬁwazre for the Synchromx and Synchronism families of
products, -

® impmvemems to the Synchr‘onism and Synchronix families of produc&s;

e new interface connectivities; and |

= impmvememé to the imaging vertical hardware and software solutions.
Intellectual Property and Other Proprietary Rights

Proprietary protection for our technological know-how, products and product cendidstes is
important to cur business. We rely upon patents, trade secrets, know-how and continuing technological
innovation tc develop and maintain our competitive position. We also rely on a combinstion of copyright
and trade secret protection and non-disclosure agreements to establish and protect our proprietary rights.
We have filed numerous patent applications covering various espects of our Synchronix product family. In
addition, wé cannot be certain that any patents issued 1o uws will not be challenged, invalidated or
circumvented, or that issued patents will provide us with a competitive advantage. Although we continue
to implement protective measures and intend to defend our proprietary rights, policing unsuthorized use of
our technology or products is difficult and we cannot be certain that thése measures will be successful.

Although mansgsment believes that patents will provide some competitive advantage, our success
is dependent to a great extent on our proprietary knowledge, innovative skills, technical expertise and
marketing ability. Because of rapidly changing technology, our present intention is not to rely pnmmﬂy on
patents or other intellectual propeﬂy rights to protect or estabhsh our market position.

In February 2001, we sold the assets related 1o the SANStar technology, including certain patent
applications, to Ciprico, Inc for aggregate pmcwds of approximately $580, including $250 of SANStar
capitalization.

In August 2002, we sold & majority of our patents and intellectual property to Veritas Software
Corporation of Mountain View, CA for $1,000. We have re‘w.med a perpetual, royalty free, non-exclusive
license o the patents.

We have registered trademarks for STORAGE ENGINE, RAID 10 PERFORMANCE
MANAGER, INTELLIGENT REBUILD, SPLIT MIRROR, EXAMODULE, SYNCHRONIX, INVERSE
MIRRORING, SYNCHRONECTION and SPLIT VOLUME. We have applied for trademark registration
for SYNCHRONISM and EASY BACKUP We cannot be - cenam that trademarks will be nssued for such
applications.

We require all employees, consultants and contractors 0 execute non-disclosure agreements &s a
condition of employment or engagement by us. We cannot be certain, however, that we can limit
unauthorized or wrongful disclosures of unpatented trade secret information.

Employess

v ° In response to market conditions, we reduced our workforce by up to 40% across most
departmerits during the first quarter of 2001. We announced on February 11, 2002 that we had further
reduced our staff by seventeen. These reductions did not affect our sales and marketing departments. As a
result, we took a charge of approximately $100 in the first quarter of 2002.
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As of March 13, 2003, we employed 38 persons, of whom 13 were engaged in marketing and
sales; 4 in engineering and research and development; 8§ in operations, including customer and technical
support, manufacturing and fulfillment; 5 in professional services; and 8 in finance, administration and
management. None of our employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements. We believe our
streamlined workforce will enable us to meet our business objectives on a more competitive basis. We also
believe that we have been successful in retaining skilled and experienced personnel; however, competition
for such personnel is intense. Our future success will depend in part on our ability to continue to atiract,
retain and motivate highly qualified technical, manufacturing, marketing and mana.gemem personnel. We
consider relations with our employees to be good. 4

Additional Factors That RMay Affect Future Results

We rely substantially on key.customers. ‘

QOur customer base is highly concentrated. QOur top 10 customers in 2000, 2001 and 2002
accounted for, in the aggregate, approximately 64.5%, 79.3%, and 78.4% respectively, of net sales in those
periods. Sales to the U.S. Air Force, through Federal integrators, accounted for 30.5%, 47.2% and 42.6%
of net sales in 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively. -Federal integrators are government coniractors who sell
directly to U.S. government entities. We believe that a substantial portion of our net sales and gross profits
will continue to be derived from sales to a concentrated group of customers. However, the volume of sales
to a specific customer is likely to vary from period to period, and a significant customer in one period may
not purchase our producis in a subsequent period. In general, there are no ongoing written commitments by
customers to purchase our products. All of our product sales are made on a purchase order basis. Qur net
sales in any period generally have been and likely will continue to be in‘the near term, derived from a
relatively small number of sales transactions. Therefore, the loss of one or more major customers could
materially adversely affect our results of operatnons

We may require additional financing to-continue operaiions which may be difficult fo obtain and may dilute
our existing owners' interests. ‘ .

We may need significant financing to grow our business. Historically, we have operated with cash
from our initial public offering, cash from the private sales of securities and cash flow from operanons
QOur cash balance was $2,799 at December 31, 2002.

If we cannot raise more funds, we could be required to reduce our capital expenditures, scale back
our research and product developments, reduce our workforce and license to others products or
technologies we would otherwise seek to commercialize ourselves.

We may seek additional funding through collaborative arrangements, borrowing money and by the
sale of additional equity securities. Any sales -of additional equity securities are likely 1o result in further
dilution to our then existing shareholders. Further, if we issue additional equity securities, the new equity
securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of existing holders of our capital stock.
Alternatively, we may borrow money from conventional lenders, possibly at high interest rates, which may
affect the value of our common stock. Despite our efforts, funding may not be available to us at all or only
on terms that are unacceptable to us. We also could be required to seek funds through arrangements with
collaborative partners or others that may require us to relinquish rights to certain of our technologies or
products which we would otherwise pursue on our own.

The Federal government's investigation into Federal government purchasing could affect our sales to the
U.S. dir Force.

* Inlate January 2000, we received a subpoena from the United States Attorney's Office in Boston,
Massachusetts for the production of documents in connection with an investigation into Federal
government purchasing. We have been and intend to continue cooperating with the investigation and are
complying fully, and intend to continue to comply fully, with the subpoena. We sell computer products to
‘companies which are used by the Federal government to supply computer products to the U.S. Air Force.
In addition, subpoenas were received by several of our emplioyees, inciuding certain officers, who have
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testified before the grand jury. It appears that one avénue of inquiry involves the relationships and
transactions of various suppliers, manufacturers (including us), and other companies, with companies that
provide product and pmdw-remed services to the U.S. Air Force. We understand that the government's
inquiry includes a review of the conduct of such companies and their officers and employees. We believe
that we have not viclated any Federal laws in comecfmon with our sale“of computer products ullfmmm_aﬁeﬂy
recetved by the U.S. Air Force. : -

In Ocﬁober 2000 one of the mtegmton's to which we sell our products, KKP Corp., and its
president pled guilty to Federal charges of mail fraud and conspiracy to-defraud the United States in
connection with the sale of computer products and related services to the U.S. Air Force. We are referred
to in the court papers (known as the "Information”) in such case. The Information states that the defendants
periodically issued invoices to us for fictitious services to the U.S. Air Force that were never provided and
passed such payments along to co-conspirators. The Information also states that one of the co-conspirators
caused us "o pay a kickback of five hundred dollars for each unit sold to the Air Force, with the proceeds
going to the benefit of the co-conspirators.” We are not identified as a co-conspirator in the Information.
We believe that we had a reasonable basis to believe these services to the U.S. Air Force were performed;
that all payments made by us to KKP Corp. were properly authorized; and that we have not violated any
Federal laws in connection with our sale of computer products to KKP Corrp w)mgh were uﬂmameﬂy
recewed by the U.S. Air Force

In Gctober 2000, two ‘employees of a company whnch assnsted the Air Force in procuring
computer-related products and other related partics were indicted on muitiple Federal charges, including
wire fraud, conspiracy to defraud the United States and money laundering in connection with the sale of
computer producis and related services from several vendors, including us, to the U.S. Air Force. The
defendants in the Indictment appear to be the co-conspirators referred to in the Information. We are
referred to in the Indictment in terms similar to the Information. We believe that we had a reasonable basis
to believe the services to the U.S. Air Force billed by some of the defendants in the Indictment were
performed; that al! payments made by us to any of the defendants in the Indictment were properly
authorized; and that we have not violated any Federal laws in connection with our sale of computer
products which were ultimately received by the U.S. Air Force.

In December 2000, the United States Attorney's Office in Boston, Massachusetts advised us
through our attorneys that the United States government has no present intentions of filing charges against
us of zny of our emplovees. We continue 10 believe that we have not violated any Federal laws in
connection with our sale of computer products which were ultimately received by the U.S. Air Force.

In late 2002, the Company was contacted through its counsel by an Assistant United States
Attorney in the Civil Division of the United States Attomey’s office in Boston who raised the question of
whether the Company had civil responsibility to the government for the events described above. The
government indicated its belief that it may have civil causes of action ageinst the Company under Federal,
state and commeon law arising from or in connection. with the work performed for, and billings to, the
Federal govemnment. Discussions are ongoing between the government and Company counsel regarding
the merits of such causes of action and-the possible settlement of the same prior to any possible litigation.

We have experienced substantial variability of our quarterly operating resulis which we expect will
coniine.

Our quarterly operating results have fluctuated, and will continue to fluctuate, significantly from
period to period depending upon factors such as the success of our efforts to expand our customer base,
changes in and the iming of expenditures relating to the continued development of products, changes in
pricing policies by us and by our competitors and certain other factors. As a result, it is possible that in
some fufure quarters our operating results may be below the expectations of investors and securities
analysts. If this happens, the trading price of our common stock could decline. Due to the relatively fixed
nature of certain of our costs, a decline in net sales in any fiscal quaﬂesr typicaily resuits in lower
profitability in that quarter. Quanerly fluctuations in sales to the U.S. Air Force are the result of several
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factors -over which we have no control, including- funding appropriations and deparimental approvals.
Although we do not anticipate that the U.S. Air Force will continue to purchase from us at historical levels,
either in absolute dollars or as a perceniage of net sales, we believe that sales to the U.S. Air Force will
continue to comprise a significant portion of our net sales. In addition, our direct sales cycle (including
sales to Federal end users) is less predictable than our indirect sales through our altemate channel partness.

* - Because we generaily  ship products within thirty days of receiving an order, we do not
customarily have a significant backlog. Based on the timing of such product shipments, we do not believe
that projects in process at any one time are a religble indicator or measure of expected future revenue.
None of our customers have minimum purchase requirements.

We may not be able 1o keep pace with anticipated rapid. technological change.

o The market for ow fault tolerant enterprise storage solutions is characterized by: rapid
fechnological change evolving industry swrrdards changing customer preferences and new
product and service introductions. .

Both the needs of poiential customers and the technologies available for meeting those needs can
change significantly within a short period of time. @ur future success will depend on our ability to develop
solutions that keep” pace with changes in the markets in which we compete. Any failure on our part to
respond quickly, cost-effectively and sufficiently to these changes could render our existing products
services or technologies non-competitive or obsolete. Even if we develop new products Services Of
technoﬂogres we may not be successful in the marketpiace ‘

Demand for our fault tolerant enterprise storage solutions depends principally upon the demand
for Open Systems-based networks, such as NT, UNIX and Linux operating systerms. Although we expect
the industry {0 continue to expand, our business may be adversely affected by a decline in the sales growth
of Open Systems-based networks targeied by us. - :

There may be a lack of market acceptance for our new products.

We believe that our success depends, in part, on our sbility to: enhance existing products; develop‘
new products that maintain technological leadership; meet a wide range of changing customer needs; and
achieve market acceptance.

Our busm&ss will be adversely affected nf we fail to maintain, rram and hire, as needed, our direct
sales force, introduce new products in a timely or cost-effective manner, increase the functionality of our
existing products to meet customers' needs or remain price competitive. We cannot be certain that we will
be successful in our product dlevelopmem efforts or, even if successful, whether our products will achieve
market acceptance .

We may not be abie to ex;mnd our sales and dlstrzbuaon chamzels

During 1998, we shifted our sales and marketing focus to me development of our direct sales
channel from our previous use of alternate channel parmers. During the prior three years, we had focused
our sales and marketing efforts through our primary alternate channel pariners, Unisys and Tandem. As a
result of indusiry consolidation and competitive factors, sales 1o Unisys and Tandem declined significantly
in 2000 and 2001. Our direct sales force concentrates on sales to commercial end users, the U.S. Air Force
and other Federal government end users. Qur direct sales force also recruits selected VARs and assists
them in their sales to commercial end users. In addition, during the later part of 2001 and early in 2002, we
began an initiative to0 pursue the data intensive vertical imaging miarket. With respect to this imaging
market focus, we hired several individuals with imaging services experience. Whether we can successfully
sell our products and services and enter new markets will depend on our ability to: hire and maintain
adequate direct sales personnel; develop and enhance relationships with new and existing customers and
resellers; end develop software-based products attractive to large data users and alternate channel pariners.
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We cannot be certain that new relationships with alternate channel partners will be established.
Furthermore, we cannot be certain that our alternate channel pariners will not deveﬂop or market pmducts n
the future that compete with our products.

The markets we serve are highly competitive,

We are engaged in fields within the data processing industry that are characterized by & high level
of competition. Competitive factors include: relative price/performance; product features, quality and
reliability; speed to market; adherence to industry standards;financial strength; and service, support and
reputation.

Meny of our competitors have financial, technical, manufacturing, sales, marketing and other
resources which are substantially greater than our own. We cannot be certain that we will be able to
continue to compete succ&ssﬁnﬂy with existing or new competitors. Recent acquisitions of several of our
competitors by large companies, mergers of smaller market pam«:apams and ordhen' market activities have
increased the competition in our marketplace.

In addition, we compste with a broad range of businesses with varying degrees of experience,
resources and development, including established computer manufacturers, systems imtegrators and
manufacturers of enterprise storage products and networking products. We compete with different
companies depending on the specific application or market. With respect to DAS products, EMC Corp.,
along with large server vendors such as Compag and Sun Microsystems, are significant compstitors. In the
NAS market, our primary competitor is Network Appliance Inc. As we confinue to introduce our fault
tolerant SAN products, we expect to compete with a number of existing and new competitors mﬁ;mducmg
products in this emerging market.

Competitive pricing pmsures exist in the data storage market and may in the future have an
adverse effect on our revenues and eamings. Ceriain competitors have reduced prices in order to preserve
or gain market share. If cur competitors continue to make price cuts, our financial results may be adversely
affected. We believe that pricing pressures are likely to continue.

The liguidity of our common stock could be adversely affected because we were delisted from the Nasdag
SmallCap Marker. '

On May 23, 2002, the Nasdaq Qualifications Staff notified the Company that it did not comply
with either the minimum net tangible assets or the minimum stockholders’ equity requirements for
continued listing set forth in Market Place Rule 4310(2}RB). The Company began trading on the Over-the-
Counter Bulletin Board (3TCBB) effective with the opening of business on October 3, 2002.

investors may find it more difficult to dispose of or obtain accurate quotations as to the market
value of our common stock. In addition, we would be subject to a Rule promulgated by the Securities and
Exchange Commission that, if we fail to meet ¢riteria set forth in such Rule, imposes various practice
reguirements on broker-dealers who sell securities governed by the Rule to persons other than established
customers and accredited investors. For these types of transections, the broker-dealer must make a special
suitability determination for the purchaser and have received the purchaser's written consent to the
transactions prior to sale. Consequently, the Rule may dster broker-dealers from recommending or selling
our common stock, which may further affect the liquidity of our common stock.

Trading on the OTCBB may make trading our shares more difficult for investors, potentially
leading to further declines in our share price. It could also make it more difficult for us to raise additional
cepital. Further, if we may also incur additional costs umder state blue sky faws in conmection with eny
sales of our securities. .

14




We depend on outside vendors to supply our products.

We rely on outside suppliers to supply subassemblies, component parts and computer systems for
resale. Our in-house manufacturing consists primarily of light assembly, systems integration, testing, and
quality assurance,

Certain components used in our products are available only from a limited number of sources.
Any delays in obtaining such components could adversely affect our results of operations. We cannot be
certain that material problems will not arise in the future with our vendors that could significantly impede
or interrupt our business. We cannot be certain that our relationships with our suppliers will continue or
that we will be able to obtain aiternative sources of supply without a material disruption in our ability to
provide products to our customers if our relationships with our existing suppliers are terminated.

We rely on certain distributors to supply us with component products from Sun Microsystems and
Seagate Technologies. Although we believe alternative distributors of these products are available, we
cannot be certain that we can obtain them on a timely and cost-effective basis.

We have been operating as an imaging services provider for a limited period of time and have a history of
losses. '

From our inception uatil 1994, our principal business was the sale of NCR products to AT&T
business units as 2 VAR, During 1994, as a result of AT&T's acquisition of NCR, AT&T discontinued
purchasing our products. We then undertook a product development initiative to reposition ourselves as a
provider of fault tolerant enterprise storage solutions. During 1996, we compieted our repositioning and
began selling our fault tolerant enterprise storage solutions. In 2001, we began the marketing of our
products into the data intensive imaging market. Accordingly, we have a limited operating history within
our current line of business.

We incurred net losses of $12,855, $2,430,and $2,530 in fiscal 2000, 2001 and 2002 respectively.
Although we had net income of $1,952 in 1999, we cannot be certain that we will be able to attain
profitabie levels of operations in the future.

Our success is dependent upon our key management, markefing, sales and technical personnel.

Our fuiure depends, in large part, upon the continued service of the key members of our
management team, as well as marketing, sales and technical personnel. During fiscal 2000, our executive
officers agreed to salary reductions. In January 2001, we reduced our workforce by up to 40% across most
departments. We announced on February 11, 2002, that we had further reduced our staff by 17; however,
we believe that we have retained the personnel who are key to achieving our goals and implementing our
strategies. These reductions did not affect our sales and marketing depariments. As 2 result, we took a
charge of approximately $100 in the first quarter of 2002.

Equally important is our ability to attract and retain new management and other personnel.
Competition for such personnel is intense, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to retain our
key employees or that we will be successful in atiracting and retaining new personnel in the future. None
of our executive officers have entered into an employment agreement. The loss of any one or more of owr

key personnel or the failure to attract and retain key personnel could have a material adverse effect on cur
business.

We have only limited protection of intellectual property rights.
Our future success depends in part upon our intellectual property, including patents, trade secrets,
know-how and continuing technological innovation. We cannot be certain that the steps taken by us to

protect our intellectual property will be adequate to prevent misappropriation or that others will not develop
competitive technologies or products. We have filed numercus patent applications covering various
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aspects of cur Synchronix product family. In addition, we cannot be certain that any patents issued o us
will not be challenged, invalidated or circumvented, or that issued patents will provide us with a
competitive advaniage. Although we believe that owr products and technology do not infringe upon
proprietary rights of others, we carnmnot be certain that third parties will not assert infringement claims in the
future or that such claims will not be successful. Although we continue to implement protective measures
and intend to defend our proprietary rights, policing unauthorized use of our technology or products is
difficult and we cannot be certain that these measures will be successful.

We may not be able to comply with industry standards.

We design our products to comply with standards adopted by our industry, the Storage Network
Industry Association (SNIA) and the Fibre Channel Alliance (FCA). We work closely with SNIA and FCA
to ensure that our products are compatible with industry standards. We cannot be certain that standards
from other standards-setting bodies will not become industry-accepted standards. A shift in industry
standards could have a material adverse effect on our operations.

In February 2003, we again achieved certification with the International Standard Organization for
the new ISO 9001-2000 standard. Since the Company first attained compliance with IS0 9001-1994 in
February 1999, it has remained compliant thereby ensuring sirict quality on alf the products offered. This
certification, which is evaluated regularly, reflects uniform, industry-wide standards of quality control for
manufacturing data-storage products. We cannot be certain that we will continue to meet the industry-
accepted standards necessary to maintan ISO 9001 certification.

Potential volatility of our stock price.

The market price of the shares of our common stock has been, and in the future may be, highly
volatife. Some factors that may affect the market price include: actual or anticipated quarterly fluctustions
in our operating results; changes in recommendations or earnings estimates by securities analysts;
announcements of techmological imnovations or new commercial products or services by us or our
competiters; and general market or economic conditions.

This risk may be heightened because our indusiry is characterized by rapid technological change
and susceptible to the introduction of new competing technologies or competitors. In addition, equity
securities of many technology companies have experienced significant price and volume fluctuations.
These price and volume fluctuations often have been unrelated to the operating performance of the affected
companies. Volatility in the market price of our common stock could result in securities class action
litigation. This type of litigation, regardless of the outcome, could result in substantial cost and a diversion
of management's attention and resources. We have cerfain anti-takeover defenses that could delay or
prevent an acquisition.

QOur certificate of incorporation and New Jersey law contain provisions that could make it more
difficult for a third party to acquire control of us, even if such change of control would be beneficial to our
shareholders. For example, our certificate of incorporation authorizes 3,000,000 shares of preferred stock,
of which 2,231,250 shares are designated Series A Preferred and 768,750 shares remain undesignated.
Subject to certain rights held by our Series A Preferred shareholders, our board of directors may issue the
undesignated preferred shares on such terms and with such rights, preferences and designations as our
board may determine without further action by our sharcholders. In addition, certain "“anti-takeover”
provisions of the New Jersey Business Corporation Act restrict the ability of certain sharcholders to affect a
merger or business combination or obtain control of us. These provisions could discourage bids for shares
of our cornmon stock at a premium as well as create a depressive effect on the market price of the shares of
our common stock.

16

e e e e




We do not expect o pay cash dzvzdends on our common stock.

We have never paid, and do not amncnpaxe paying, any cash dividends on our.common stock for
the foreseeable future. OQur factoring facility with GMAC restricts our ability to pay certain dividends
without its prior writien consent. Unless we pay dxvadends our sharehoiders wﬂl not be able to receive a
return on their shares unless they seﬂ them. - o

PROPERTIES

Our executive and business development office is in Tinton Falls, New Jersey. We believe that
our current facilities are adequate to support our existing operations. We also believe that we will be able
0 obtain suitable additional facilities on commercially reasonable terms on an "as needed” basis. During
2002, the Company consolidated its two Tinton Falls, New Jersey facilities into one location and negotiated
a settlement which released the Company from any and ai} obligations associated with the vacated facility.
As part of such setlerent, the Compeny paid $71 to the landlord.

We occupy the following properties, which are all leased:

" Approximate v R » C
- Location Area - . Use S : ‘Nature of Occupancy
{in sq. feet) S s :
Tinton Falls, New 22,000 Executive Office, R&D,” ~  Lease expires 12/31/05 with a four-
Jersey - . : Manufacturing Business ©  year renewal option.
‘ Development '
Falls Church, Virginia . 500 . Sales Office . Lease expires on 12/31/03.
LEGAL PR@CEEMNGS

" In late January 2000, we received a subpoena from the United States Attorney's Oﬁice in Boston,
Massachusetts for the production of documents in connection with an investigation into Federal
government purchasing. We have been and intend to continue cooperating with the investigation and are
complying fully, and intend tc continue to ‘comply fully, with the subpoena. We sell computer products 10
companies which are used by the Federal government to supply computer products to the U.S. Air Force.
In addition, subpoenas were received by several of our employees, including certain officers, who have
testified before the grand jury. It appears that one avenue of inguiry involves the relationships and
transactions of various suppliers, manufacturers (including us), and other companies; with companies thai
provide product and product-related services 1o the U.S. Air Force. We understand that the government's
inquiry includes a review of the conduct of such companies and their officers and employees. We believe -
that we have not violated any Federal laws in cormecnon with the sale of computer products ulumately
received by the U.S. Au Force.

in October 2000, one of the integrators to which we sell our products KKP Corp., and its
president pled guilty to Federal charges of mail fraud and conspiracy to defreud the United States in
connection with the sale of computer products and related services to the U.S. Air Force. We are referred
t0 in the court papers (known as the "Information") in such case. The Information states that the defendants
periodically issued invoices to us for fictitious services to the U.S. Air Force that were never provided and
passed such payments along to co-conspirators. The Information also states that one of the co-conspirators
caused us "to pay a kickback of five hundred dollars for each unit sold to the Air Force, with the procesds
going to the benefit of the co-conspirators." We are not identified as a co-conspirator in the Information.
We believe that we had a reasonable basis to believe these services to the U.S. Air Force were performed;
that all payments made by us to KXP Corp. were properly authorized, and that we have not violated any
Federal laws in connection with our sale of computer products to KKP Corp., which were ultimately
received by the U.S. Air Force.
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In October 2000, two employess of a company which. assisted the Air Force in procuring
computer-related products and other related parties were indicted on multiple Federal charges, including
wire fraud, conspiracy to defraud the United States and money laundering in connection with the sale of
computer products and related services from several vendors, including us, to the U.S. Air Force. The
defendants in the Indictment appear.to be the co-comspirators referred to in the Information. We are .
referred to in the Indictment in terms similar to the Information. We believe that we had a reasonable basis
to believe the services to the U.S. Air Force billed by some of the defendants in the Indictment were
performed; that all payments made by us o any of the defendants in the Indictment were properly
authorized; and that we have not violated any Federal laws in connection with our sale of computer
products which were ultimately received by the U.S. Air Force,

In December 2000, the United States Attorney's Office in Boston, Massachusetts advised us
through our attorneys that the United States government has no present intentions of filing charges against
us or any of cur employvees. We continue to believe that we have not violated any Federal laws in
connection with our sale of computer products which were ultimately received by the U.S. Air Force.

In late 2002, the Company was contacted through its counse! by am Assistemt United States
Attorney in the Civil Division of the United States Atterney’s office in Boston who raised the question of
whether the Company had civil responsibility to the government for the events described above. The
government indicated its belief that it may have civil causes of action against the Company under Federal,
state and common law arising from or in connection with the work performed for, and billings to, the
Federal government. Discussions are ongoing between the govemnment and Company counsel regarding
the merits of such causes of action and the possible settlement of the same prior to any possible litigation.

We continue to work closely with, sell to, and seek solutions for, our customer, the U.S. Air Force.
We cannot be certain that our sales and operating results will not be adversely affected by the investigation
discussed above.

In September 1999, we entered mntc a Master Sale Agreement with Hitachi Computer Products
{America), Inc. Pursuant to such agreement, Hitachi began assembling the Synchronix 2000 in January
2000. The agreement does not contain specific quantity commitments and purchases are made on a
purchase order basis. The agreement does not include any long-term commitment by either party. In 1999,
purchases from Hitachi totaled $2,540, or 10.3%, of all purchases. n 2000, such purchases totaled $1,053,
or 6.6%, of all purchases, and in 2001, such purchases totaled $155, or 4.5%, of all purchases.

On June 22, 2001 we notified Hitachi of our intent to terminate the Master Sale Agresment as of
September 22, 2001 in accordance with the requirements of said agreement. We used Hitachi to assemble
our Synchronix 2000 products. We have been assembling the Synchronix product previously assembied by
Hitachi in our New Jersey facility. Hitachi was refusing to deliver certain goods which we hed paid for in
full. On October 10, 2001, we filed. suit against Hitachi in Federal District Court in New Jersey seeking
specific performance on the delivery of such goods. In December 2001, both parties agreed to resolve this
matter in binding arbitration. As part of this erbitration agreement, Hitachi agreed to deliver to us the
goods which we hed paid for in full. We agreed to post a letter of credit in the amount of $162 representing
Hitachi's claim against us associated with the purchase of excess component parts used o assemble our
product. On February 28, 2003, the Decision of Arbitrator was received awarding Hitachi $24, which was
offset by attomey fees awarded to us in the amount of $6, resulting in 2 sum payable to Hitechi of $18.

SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLBERS

Not applicable.
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MARKET FOR THE COM?ANY °S COMMON EQUITY AND RELA'H'ED SHAREHOLDER
‘ MATTERS ‘

Pursuant to a decision of the Nasdaq Qualifications Panel, we transferred the listing of our
common stock from the Nasdaq National Market to the Nasdag SmallCap Market, effective July 5, 2001,
subject to certain exceptions. On July 10, 2001, we announced the approval of a'1:6 reverse stock split
effective on the close of business on Friday, July 20, 2001, pursuant to which one new share of our
common stock was issued in exchange for each six outstanding shares of common stock. Cur post-split
common stock began trading on the Nasdaq SmallCap Market under the symbol "SENGC" on July 23,
2001 and continued to trade under this symbol during an exception period granted by Nasdag. Nasdaq
notified the Company on August 10, 2001 that we had satisfied the Nasdaq SmaliCap Market continued
listing requirements and, on August 14, 2001, our common stock began trading without exception on the
Nasdaq SmallCap Market under the symbol "SENG".

On May 23, 2002, the Nasdaq Qualifications Staff notified the Company that it did not comply -
with either the minimum net tangible assets or the minimum stockhoiders’ equity requirements for
continued listing set forth in Market Piace Rule 43102)(B). The Company began trading on the Over-the-

Counter Bulletin Board (OTCBB) eﬁectwe with the opening of business on October 3, 2002. The trading
symbol remains SENG.

The following table sets forth the high and low sales price for the common stock for each of the
quarters since December 31, 1999 as adjusted to reflect the 1:6 stock split. Such quotations reflect inter-
dealer prices, without retail mark-up, markdown or commission and may not represent actual transactions,

As our common stock no longer trades on an exchange, we are required to n‘eport n future filings our high
and iow bid information.

High Low

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2001 _
FAESE QUAIIET ..oooooeoe oo e $ 0875 $0.281
Second QUATTET.............cccoruvermiineiiiee e 1.070 0.410
Third Quarter ..., TN 4.140 - 1.500
FOUTth QUATTET..........oveoveeeeeeeeeee et ee s 4.950 0.970
Fiscal Year Ended December 31,2002 '
ST QUATTET . .....o..veee oo 1.480 0.500
Second QUATET..........cc..oiveiiveire ettt 1.430 0.820
Third QUATTEE .......cooooi e e 1.150 0.400
FOUrth QUAKLET............oovoceeicvoeeseeeceeeeeeveeeeee e 1.010 0.100

On March 28, 2003, the last reported sale price of our common stock as reported by the OTCBB
was $0.70 per share. As of March 28, 2003, the approximate number of holders of record of our common
stock was 172.

We have never paid, and do not anticipate paying, any cash dividends on our common stock for
the foreseeable future. Qur factoring facility with GMAC restricts our ability to pay certain dividends
without its prior written consent.

As of December 31, 2002, we had 1,848,328 shares outstanding of owr 6% Cumulative
Convertible Preferred Stock, Series A (the "Series A Preferred Stock”™). Each share of Series A Preferred
Stock was initially convertible, ai the option of its holder, at any time after issuance, into eight shares of our
common stock. As a result of the one-for-six reverse stock split of our common stock, effective July 20,
2002, each share of Series A Preferred Stock is currently convertible info one and one-third (1 1/3) shares
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of the our common stock. The conversion ratio is subject to adjustments under certain conditions. - During
2001 and 2002, respectively, 408,125 and 128,141 shares of Series A Preferred Stock were converted into
544,167 and 167,420 shares of common stock at the reguest of certain Series A Preferred Stock
sharehclders. The Series A Preferred Stock is automatically convertible upen the consurnmation of cur
sale of common stock in a public offering that meets certain terms. The holders of Series A Preferred
Stock are entitled to vote on all matiers that the holders of our common stock are entitled to vote upon, on
an as-converted to common stock basis. In addition, the vote of 66 2/3%.of the holders of Serics A
Preferred Stock is required in certain circumstances.  The Series A Preferred Stock ranks semior to the
common stock with respect to dividends and upon liquidation, dissolution, winding up or otherwise. The
holders of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to receive, out of funds legally
available for the payment of dividends, quarter-anmual dividends. Each quarter-annual dividend is
computed by dividing the annual dividend rate of $0.12 per share by four and is payable in cash or, at the
option of the Company, in shares of Series A Preferred Stock. Series A Preferred Stock dividends are
curnulative, whether or not declared, and are compounded at an annual rate of 6% on the unpaid cumulative
balance. No dividends may be paid or declared upon junior securities, including our commeon stock, uniess
full cumulative dividends on all outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock are paid or have been set
apart. Dividends may be declared on parity securities, only if dividends are also declared on the Series A
Preferred Stock ratably in proportion to accumulated and unpaid dividends. On November 29, 2001, the

Board of Directors declared dividends in arrears valued at $193 to be paid in additional shares of Series A.

Preferred Stock associated with the March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15, 2001 dividend
payments. As a result, the Company issued 96,367 shares of Series A Preferred Stock on January 28, 2002.
On Apmi 26, July.2S and September 26, 2002, the Board of Directors dechared dividends valued at $57 for
each declaration paid in additional shares of Series A Preferred Stock. As a result, the Company issued
28,561 and 28,416 shares of Series A Preferred Stock for the March 15 dividend payment and the June 15
dividend payment, respeciively. As of December 31, 2002, 28,574 sheres of Series A Preferred Stock
associated with the September 15 dividend payment have not been issued.

As of December 31, 2002, approximately $67 of dividends had accumulated and have not been
declared and paid represemting dividends in arrears for the period from September 16, 2002 through
December 31, 2002. On January 23, 2003, the Board of Directors declared dividends valued at
approximately $57 relating to the quarterly period through December 15, 2002.

The Series A Preferred Stock is subject to mandatory redemption by the Company four years after
its issnance. The Serles A Preferred Stock may also be redesmed at the option of the Company or the
holder under certain conditions. Subject 1o certain conditions, holders of Series A Preferred- Stock have a
right of first offer with respect to the issuance of any new securities which would reduce such holder's
holdings by 10% or more.
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SELECTED CONSQLIDATED FINANCIAL BATA

The following selected consolidated financial data as of and for the five years ended December 31,
2002 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements. Historical results are not necessarily
indicative of results to be expected for any future period. The selected consolidated financial data set forth
below should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto and with
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” appearing
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Statement of Operations Data:

Gross profit (deficit)
Selling, general and .
administrative expenses ............. e
Research and development
EXPEISES ...vvvvviirvereteaee e
Operating income (10SS) .......................
Gain on sale of certain patents &
Intellectual property.........cccccerenenne
Gain on sale of SANStar
Net interest income {(expense) ...........
(Loss) income before income tax benefit
Income tax benefit ........c.oooeeiiienin,
Net (10s8) inCOME ......cooovvinrerirerennne
Preferred dividends and accretion ........
Net (loss) income applicable
10 common Shares ..........ococeeveevievennne
Net (loss) income per share before
extraordinary item ~ basic.................
Net (loss) income per share — basic.....
Net (loss) income per share before
extraordinary item — diluted ..............
Net (loss) income per share — diluted ..
Weighted average common shares
outstanding — basic........c...ccevenrnne
Weighted average common shares
outstanding — diluted

Balance Sheet Data:

Working capital
Total ASSELS .......cvvvvrvecrcrienairreernnans
Loans payable and payable to Finova
Capital ......ccccoemriinniecerecn s
6% cumulative convertible
preferred stock Series A ....................
Shareholders’ equity...............ccooveernennne

Year Ended December 31,

1998 1999 2000 2001 20802
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
$ 28,466 $ 39,761 ~$ 15022 $ 10,022 $ 5413
20,452 26777 15,268 6,168 3.606
3,014 12,984 (246) 3,854 1,807
8,378 9,693 10,925 5,588 4,901
2,683 1,939 2,112 1308 683
(3,047) 1,352 (13,283) (3,042) (3,777)
- - - - 1,000
- - -- 284 -~
390 162 193 66 (6]
(2,657 1,514 (13,090) (2,692) (2,778)
- (438) 235 262} {248)
2,657) 1,952 (12,855) (2,430 (2,530)
- - - (4,625) (227)
$0657) $ 195 § (2855 § _(3.055) 8 (235D
$ (1.4% $ 106 3 (6.71) $ (3.56) $ (1.07)
$ (1.45) $ 106 $ ®.71) $ (3.56) % (1.07)
$ (145 $ 098 $ 7)) $ (35 $§ (Lo7
$ (145 $ 098 $ 67y $ (356 $ (107
1,828 1,849 1,915 1,982 2,577
1,828 1,996 1,915 1,982 2,577
December 38,
1993 19%9 2000 2001 2002
(in thousands)
$ 5374 $ 7,993 $ 2,221 $ 3,146 § 2,799
11,969 14,200 3,467 5,533 3,398
21,374 23,231 9,632 8,077 6,435
1,231 968 276 66 484
- - - 3,839 3,754
$ 15,232 $ 17,701 $ 5,145 $ 2627 $ 189
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Overview

_ Storage Engine, Inc. is a provider of document imaging solutions and fault tolerant, cost effective
enterprise data storage solutions that serve a wide range of business and government markets. We believe
we have significant experience with handling, designing, engineering, architecting, installing and
implementing information storage solutions to solve data storage needs. Having manufactured products for
OEMs as well as end users, our knowledge and quality practices ensure that our data storage producis
provide the reliability demanded by our customers. QOur goal is to meet and exceed our customers’
expectations. We achieved ISO 9001 certification in 1999 and have continued to maintain this certification
status of quality. ' ‘

v In June 2000, we introduced SANStar, a file aware storage architecture intended to unify disparate
data, including NAS and SAN. In the fourth quarter of 2000, we discontinued our SANStar development
effort due to EMC's purchase of CrosStor, the supplier of the Real Time Operating System (RTOS) used in
SANStar. The SANStar product did not account for any revenues, but represented a substantial portion of
engineering costs in 2000. The total amount of SANS1ar capitalization of $1,988 was written down to $250
in December 2000. In February 2001, we sold the assets related to the SANStar technology, including
certain patent applications, to Ciprico, Inc. for aggregate proceeds of approximately $580, including $250
of SANStar capitalization.

We have identified a vertical imaging market that we are pursuing for our solutions and those of
our partners. In this market we are providing a seamless data storage approach for documnent management
and handling with current technology in a cost effective and centralized means.  With the addition of
several new hires with long term experience in the document imaging business, we believe we have
accelerated our ability to provide world class imaging services solutions.

In August 2002, we sold a majority of our patents and intellectual property to Veritas Software
Corporation of Mountain View, CA for $1,000. We have retained a perpetual, royalty free, non-exclusive
license to the patents.

Sales to the U.S. Air Force accounted for approximately 30.5%, 47.2% and 42.6% of net sales in
2000, 2001 and 2002, tespectively. Although we do not anticipate that the U.S. Air Force will continue to
purchase from us at historical levels, either in absolute dollars or as a percentage of net sales, we believe
that sales to the U.S. Air Force will continue to comprise a significant portion of our net sales. Quarterly
fluctuations in sales to the U.S. Air Force are the result of several factors over which we have no control,
including funding appropriations and departmental approvals. We cannot be certain that our sales to the
U.S. Air Force through Federal integrators will not be adversely affected by the investigation discussed in
Itemn 3. Legal Proceedings.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the net sales derived from each of our

sales channels:
Year Ended December 31,
2009 2091 2002
(in thousands)

Commercial, other Federal customers,
and alternate channel parters................ccoecveeeennn.. $ 10,446 $ 5293 $ 2,682
US, AT FOTCR..... i 4,576 4,729 2,307
IMAGING ...voveceivieeee et ene e - - 424

$ 15022 $10022 § 5413
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QOur commercial, other Federal and imaging sales include sales through select resellers. All sales
to the U.S. Air Force are through Federal integrators. Federal integrators are government contractors who
sell directly to U.S. government entities. .

Neither we nor any person acting on our behalf, has, in this Annual Report on Form 10-K or
otherwise, publicly disclosed material information that includes a non-GA AP financial measure.

Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates and Risks

Financial Reporting Release No. 60, which was released by the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC), requires all companies to include a discussion of critical accounting policies or
methods used in the preparation of financial statements. Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
includes a summary of the significant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of our
Consolidated Financial Statements. The following i isa bmef discussion of the more significant accounting
policies and methods used by us.

In addition, Financial Reporting Release No. 61 was released by the SEC to require all companies
to include a discussion to address, among other things, liquidity, off-balance sheet arrangements,
contractual obligations and commercial commitments.

Qur discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, including the
recoverability of tangible and intangible assets, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date
of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period.

On an on-going basis, we evaluate such estimates. The most significant estimates relate to the
allowance for doubtful accounts, reserve for inventory obsolescence, reserve for warranties, reserve for
employee benefits, deferred income taxes, depreciation of fixed assets and long-lived assets, contingencies
and litigation and the recognition of revenue and profits. We base our estimates on historical experience
and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for malking judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could vary from the estimates and assumptions used in
the preparation of the accompanying financial statements. N

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and
estimnates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements:

Revenue

Revenue is recognized upon shipment of the product when all risks of ownership have passed to
the customer and the Company has no specific performance obligations remaining. Revenue related to
imaging services is recognized upon customer acceptance. Amounts received in advance of acceptance are
recorded as deferred revenue. Revenue related to maintenance contracts are recognized over the respective
terms of the maintenance coniracts.

- Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue relating to product sales consists primarily of’ the costs of purchased material;
direct labor and related overhead expenses; and amortization and write-off of capitalized sofiware.
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Capitalized Software

We capitalize software development costs in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards ("SFAS") No. 86. Such costs are capitalized afler techmological feasibility has been
demonstrated.  Such capitalized amounts are amortized comumencing with product introduction on a
straight-line basis utilizing the estimated economic life ranging from one to three years. Capitalized
software amounts that have no future economic benefit are written down to net realizable value in the
period that such value is derived. Amortization of capitalized software development is charged to cost of
sales and aggregated $919, $156, and zero for 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively. We did not capitalize

any software development costs during 2001 and 2002.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Seiling, general and adminisirative expenses consist primarily of:

e salaries, commissions and travel costs for sales and marketing personnel, including trade shows;
and

expenses associated with our management, legal, accoumting, contract and adminisirative
functions.

Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and related overhead expenses

paid to software and hardware engineers. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred, except
for software development costs which are capitalized after technological feasibility has been demonstrated.

Results of Gperations

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated certain financial data expressed as a
percentage of total revenue:

Year Ended December 31,
26060 2001 2002
Net sales:
Commercial, other Federal, and
alternate channel Parners........cccovverviereeeic e e 69.5% 52.8% 49.6%
US AT FOICE. ..o 30.5 472 426
Total NEt SAlES ..o 160.0 100.0 100.0
Costof sales ................ . 1016 61.5 60.6
Cross (deficit) profit (1.6} 385 33.4
Selling, general & administrative €XPenses..............vc...... - 727 557 206
Research & development EXpenses.........ccoovvirvevecnnveennn, 141 . 131 12.6
OPETEBNG 0SS ....ovevecvovieivesieet ettt e e (88.4) (30.3) (65.8)
Gain on sale of certain patents and intellectual property - - 185
Gain on sale of SANStar - 2.8 -
Net IEEreSt ICOMIC.......covoveveeiesreeeoreete e eeetres e 13 0.7 -
Loss before incometax benefit .........cooocoovveevieveeerevn, (87.1) (26.8) (51.3)
Income tax benefit ............cococveviii e, 1.6 2.6 46
NELIOSS ... (85.5}% 24.2Y% {46 Y%

Our operating results are affected by several factors, particularly the spending fluctuations of our
{argest customers, including the U.S. Air Force. Due to the refatively fixed nature of certain of our costs, a
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decline in net sales in any fiscal quarter will have a miaterial adverse effect on that quarter's results-of
operations. We do not expect such spending fluctuations 10 be altered in the foreseeable furture.

Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2001

" Net Sales

Net sales decreased by approximately $4,609, or 46.0%, to $5,413 in 2002 from $10,022 in 2001.
Sales of our fault tolerant enterprise storage solutions accounted for 78.9% and 80.9% of net sales in 2002
and 2001, respectively. Service-revenues accounted for 16.8% and 12.2% of net sales. in 2002 and 2001,
respectively. Other revenues accounted for 4.3% and 6.9% of net sales in 2002 and 2001, respectively.
The decrease in 2002 net sales resulted primarily from lower sales of our enterprise storage solutions to
commercial and other Federal customers-and the U.S. Air Force through Federal integrators, partially offset
by an increase in imaging sales. ‘

Sales to the U.S. Air Force through Federal integrators decreased by approximately $2,422, or
51.2%, to $2,307 in 2002 from: $4,729 in 2001. Such sales accounted for approximately 42.6% and 47.2%
of net sales in 2002 and 2007, respeciively: .Although we do not anticipate that the U.S. Air Force will
continue to purchase from us at historical levels, either in absolute dollars or as a percentage of net sales,
we believe that sales to the U.S. Air Force will continue to comprise a significant portion of our net sales.
Quarterly fluctuations in.sales to the U.S. Air Force are the result of several factors over which we have no
control, including funding appropriations and departmental approvals: We cannot be certain that our sales
to the U.S. Air Force through Federal- integrators will not be adversely affected by the investigation
discussed in Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

Sales to our commercial, other Federal customers, and alternate channel partners decreased by
approximately $2,611, or 49.3%, to $2,682 in 2002 from $5,293 in 2001, Sales to our commercial, other
Federal customers and alternate channel partners ‘decreased primarily as a result of the U.S. economic
recession and the decline of the dot-com companies. In addition, price competition in the U.S, forced us to
cut our prices in certain cases. The decrease in sales to commercial, other Federal customers, and alternate
channel partners was primarily due to a decrease in sales volume. We expect our sales 1o commercial and
other Federal customers to continue to comprise a significant portion of our net sales as we concentrate our
sales on data intenisive applications. However, we do not expect that our alternate channel pariners will
continue to represent a significant portion of our net sales. Quarterly fluctuations in sales to commercial
and other Federal customers are the result of several factors over which we have no control, including
highly competitive markets where we are competing with much larger companies. We cannot be certain
that our sales to commercial and other Federal customers will not be adversely affected by the overall poor
economic conditions,

Sales to our imaging customers increased by approximately $424, or 100%, in 2002 from zero in
2001. Such increase represents management’s conceried effort 1o increase sales within this vertical market.
Although imaging net sales have not historically represented a significant portion of our net sales, we
expect that our sales to imaging customers will increase as we devote additional sales and marketing efforts
to this market and we gain greafer recognition in the document conversion market. Quarterly fluctuations
in sales to our imaging customers are due to several factors, including budget approval and departmental
controls.: We cannot be certain that our imaging market initiative will not be adversely affected by the
overall poor economic conditions.

Gross Profit

) -Our gross profit decreased by approximately $2,047 to a gross profit of approximately $1,807 in
2002 from a gross profit of $3,854 in 2001. Such decrease in gross margin is primarily due to the overall
decrease in sales. The gross margin percentage in 2002 was 33.4% as compared to 38.5% in 2001. Such
decrease in gross margin percertage is primarily due to the lower absorption of fixed overhead cost in 2002
as compared to 2001. We expect that we will generate gross margins from our sales to the U. S. Air Force
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through integrators, commercial, other Federal customers, and imaging customers. Qur gross margins
could fluctuate depending upon the mix of net sales in any one quarter. K

Operating Expenses

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses decreased by $687 or 12.3%, to $4,901 in
2002 from $5,588 in 2001. Such decrease was primarily due to the reduction in workforce which occurred
during the first quarter of 2002. .

SG& A expenses as a percentage of net szles represented 90.6% and 55.7% for 2002 and 2001,
respectively.. Such percentage increase is attributable to the reduction in revenues offset by the decrease in
SG&A costs.  Salaries, commissions, bonuses, emplovee benefits and payroll taxes were the largest
components of operating expenses, accounting for 61.4% and 64.5% of such expenses in 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

. Research and development expenses decreased in 2002 by $625, or 47.8%, to $683 in 2602 from
$1 308 in 2001. Such decrease represents the reduction in payroll expense associated with the reduction in
force which occurred in the first quarter of 2002. Such expenses represemed approximately 12.6% and
13.1% of cur net sales for 2002 and 2001, respactively.

We will continue to manage our overall cost stmcture and take the necessary steps to reducs costs
where appropriate in order to return to profitability. There can be no assurance, however, that we will be
successful in controlling costs 1o the extent necessary to return to profitability.

Sale of Certain Patents and Inteilectual Property

‘ mAugust 2002, we sold a majority of our patents and intellectual property to Veritas Software
Corporation of Mountain View, CA for $1,000.- We have retained a perpstual, royalty free, non-exclusive
license to the patents.

Nert Interest Expense/income

Net interest expense was $1 in 2002 as compared to net interest income of $66 for 2001, The
decrease in interest income was primarily due to decreased mterest rates in 2002, and lower cash balances
in 2002

Ye@r Ended December 31, 2001 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2000
Net Sales

Net sales decreased by approximately $5,000 or.33.3%, to $1C,022 in 2001 from $15,022 in 2000,
Sales of our fault tolerant enterprise storage solutions accounted for 80.9% and 83.5% of net sales in 2001
and 2000, respectively. Service revenues accounted for 12.2% and 6.8% of net sales in 2001 and 2000,
respectively. Other revenues accounted for 6.5% and 9.7% of net sales in 2001 and 2000, respectively.
The decrease in 2001 net sales resulted primarily from lower saies of our enterprise storage solutions to
aliernate channel partners and our conumercial customers, offset in part by increased sa&es to the U.S. Air
Force through Federal integrators.

Sales to the U.S. Air Force through Federal integrators increased by approximately §153, or 3.3%,
to $4,729 in 2001 from $4,576 in 2000. Such sales accounted for approximately 47.2% and 30.5% of net
sales in 2001 and 2000, respectively. The increase as a percentage of sales is primarily due to the decreases
in our other sal&s channels. .

Sales to alternate channel pariners decreased by approximately $371, or 68.6%, to $170 in 2001
from $541 .in 2000. Such sales accounted for approximately 1.7% and 3.6% of net sales in 2001 and 2000,
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respectively. Such decrease represents a decrease in sales to Unisys of approximately $407. Sales to
Unisys accounted for approximately 1.3% and 3.6% of our net sales in 2601 and 2000, respectively. Sales
to Tandem accounted for less than 1% of our net sales in both 2001 and 2000. We do not expect sales to
altemate channel partners to constitute a sxgmﬁcant part of our net sales in ﬁscal 2002.

Sales to our commermal and other Federal customers decreased by approximately $4782 of
48.3%, to $5,123 in 2001 from.$9,905 in 2000. .Sales to our commercial and other Federal customers
decreased primarily as a result of the U.S. economic recession and the decline of the dot-com companies.
In addition, price competition in the U.S. forced us to cut our prices in certain cases. The decrease in sales
to commercial and other Federal cusiomers was primanly due to a decrease in saies volume rather than a
decrease in prices.

Gross Profit

Our gross profit increased by approximately $4,100 to a gross profit of approximately $3,854 in
2001 from a gross deficit of $246 in 2000. Qur gross profit in 2000 was adversely affected by $2,523 and
$1,738 of charges relating to an increase in inventory cbsolescence and the write-off of capitalized
software, respectively. The charges taken in 2000 for inventory obsolescence relates to the repositioning of
our product offering and the discontinuance of the S ANStar development effort.

In June 2000, we introduced SANStar, a file aware storage architecture intended to unify disparate
data, including NAS and SAN. In the fourth quarter of 2000, we discontinued our SANStar development
effort due to EMC's purchase of CrosStor, the supplier of the Real Time Operating System (RTOS) used in
SANStar. The SANStar product did not account for any revenues to date but represented a substantial
portion of engineering costs which were capitalized in 2000. The total amount of SANStar capitalization of
$1,988 was written down to $250 in December 2000. In February 2001, we sold the assets related to the
SANStar technology, including certain patent applications, to Ciprico, Inc. for aggregate proceeds of
approximately $580, including $250 of SANStar capitalization.

Operating Expenses

Selling, general and administrative {SG&A) expenses decreased by $5,337, or 48.9%, to $5,588 in
2001 from $10,925 in 2000. Such decrease was primarily due to the reduction in workforce by up to0 40%

across most departments during the first quarter of 2001 and the salary reductions agreed io by our
executive officers.

SG&A expenses as a percentage of net sales represented 55.7% and 72.7% for 2001 and 2000,
respectively. Such percentage decrease is attributable to the reduction in revenues combined with
decreased SG&A costs. Salaries, commissions, bonuses, employee benefits and payroll taxes were the
largest components of operating expenses, accounting for 64.5% arid 59.0% of such expenses in 2001 and
2000, respectively.

Research and deve&opmem expenses decreased in 2001 by $804, or 38.1%, t0 $1,308 in 200} from
$2,112 in 2000. Such decrease represents the reduction in payroll expense associated with the reduction in

force which occurred in the first quarter of 2001, Such expenses repwsemed approx:mately 13 1% and
14.1% of our-net sales for 2001 and 2600, respectively. -

Net Interest [ncome

Net interest income was $66 and $193 for 2001 and 2000, respectively. The decrease in interest
Income was primarily due to decreased interest rates in 2001 compared to 2000. ,

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our éash balance was apprdximately $2,799 at December 31, 2002.
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Net cash used in operating activities was $1,598 and $2,618 in 2002 and 2001, respectively. Net:
cash used in operating activities in 2002 resulted primarily from the net loss from operations after adding
back depreciation, amortization and the gain on the sale of certain patents and intellectual property, offset
in part by a decrease in inventories, and an increase. in accounts payable, accrued liabilities and deferred
revenue. Net cash provided by investing activities was $872 in 2002, and primarily represents proceeds
from the sale of ceriain patents and intellectual property. Net cash provided by financing activities was
$379 in 2002 and primarily represents net borrowings under & revolving credit agreément.

We used $128 and $461 for the acquisition of equipment by diwed purchase. during 2002 and
2001, respectively. Such expenditures primarily consisted of computer equipment associated with our
research and development efforts.

In August 2002, we sold a majority of our patents and intellectual property to Veritas Software
Corporation of Mountain View, CA for $1,000. We have retained a perpemaﬂ royalty free, non-exclusive
license to the patents. ’

We had working capital of $3,398 and $5,533 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

On July 9, 1997, we entered into 2 full recourse factoring facility with GMAC Commercigl Credit
LLC (GMAC) which provides for aggregate advances not to exceed the lesser of $7 million or up to 85.0%
of Eligible Receivables (as defined in the agresment - $852 as of December 31, 2002). Interest on such
advances is payable monthly in arrears at the prime lending rate and we are obligated to pay certain annual
fees. The factoring facility currently expires on July 30, 2003 and may be extended on an annual basis
thereafier until terminated by either party upon sixty days prior writien notice. Qur obligations under such
agreement are collateralized by substantially all of our assets. As of December 31, 2002, we had an
outstending balance of $484 under this full recourse factoring facility.

Qur original agreement with GMAC restricted our ability to pay certain dividends without
GMAC's prior written consent. On December 31, 2001, GMAC modified the agreement to allow us to pay
dividends with respect 1o the Series A Preferred Stock in the form of additional shan‘es of Senw A Preferred
Stock.

Ve have certain covenants with GMAC and we are in compliance as of December 31, 2602.

As of December 31, 2002, we have Net Cperating Loss ("NOL") carryforwards for Federal
Income tax purposes of approximately $25,673, which will begin to expire in 2009. We also have research
and development tax credit carryforwards for Federal income tax purposes of approximately $632, which
will begin o expire in 2009, In addition, we have aliernative minimum tax credits of approximately $76,
which can be carried fomard indefinitely. We experienced a change in ownership in 1996 ("1996
Ownership Change") as defined by Section 382 of the Intemnal Revmue Code. Accordingly, future use of
these NOLs and income tax credits will be limited..

The issuance of Series A Preferred Stock in 2001 may create a change in our ownership as defined
by Section 382. Therefore, further use of the NOLs and income tax credits generated subsequem to ﬁhe
1996 Ownership Chmge may also be limited.

As of December 31, 2002, we have approximately $8,013 of state NOL canyforw&rdé which will
begin to expire in 2005 and state research and development tax credit canyforwa.rds of $86, whnch will
begin to expire in 2004.

In December 2002, we sold $256 of State Research and Development tax credits, which resulted
in a tax benefit of $225. In December 2001, we sold $8,147 of State NOL carryforwards, which resuited in
a tax benefit of $262.

Under SFAS No. 109, a valuation allowance is established, if based on the weight of availaﬂﬁﬁe
evidence, it is more likely than not that a portion of the deferred tax asset will not be reglized. Accordingly,
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a full valuation allowance has been provided to offset our net deferred tax assets. We will periodically
reassess the valuation atlowance. ‘

On March 9, 2001, we issued 1,450,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock to certain accredited
investors pursuant to the initial closing of the Private Placement for gross proceeds equal to $2,900. Cn
April 4, 2001 and April 19, 2001, we issued to accredited investors 250,000 and 300,000 shares of
additional Series A Preferred Stock, respectively. In addition, we issued an aggregate of 125,000 shares of
Series A Preferred Stock to Unterberg Towbin, our financial advisor in the Private Placement, for services
provided in connection with the Private Placement. We received aggregate gross proceeds of $4,000 in
connection with the Private Placement.

The terms and conditions of the Private Placement provided for a cash payment or the issuance of
additional shares of the our Series A Preferred Stock if a shelf registration statement covering the shares of
common stock underlying the Series A Preferred Stock issued in the Private Placement was not declared
effective by the SEC within 180 days fellowing each of three closing dates in the Private Placement. Since
a shelf registration statement covering such shares was not declared effective by the SEC within the
allowable timeframes, we issued an aggregate of 106,250 additional shares of its Series A Preferred Stock
to its Series A Preferred Stock shareholders on QOctober 16, 2001. We had 30 business days following the
default date to issue the default shares. On October 16, 2001, we increased the number of shares
designated as Series A Preferred Stock 10 2,231,250,

Each share of Series A Preferred Stock was initially convertible, at the option of its holder, at any
time after issuance, into eight shares of our common stock. As a result of the one-for-six reverse stock split
of the our common stock, effective July 20, 2001, each share of Series A Preferred Stock is currently
convertible into one and one-third (1 1/3) shares of the our common stock at the request of certain Series A
Preferred Stock shareholders. The conversion ratio is subject to adjustments under certain conditions.
During 2001 and 2002, respectively, 408,125 and 128,141 shares of Series A Preferred were converted into
544,167 and 167,420 shares of common stock at the request of certain Series A Preferred Stock
shareholders. The Series A Preferred Stock is automatically convertible upon the consummation of our
sale of common stock in a public offering that meets certain terms. The holders of Series A Preferred
Stock are entitled to vote on all matters that the holders of our commion stock are entitled o vote upen, on
an as-converted to common stock basis. In addition, the vote of 66 2/3% of the holders of Series A
Preferred Stock is required in certain circumstances. The Series A Preferred Stock ranks senior to the
common stock with respect to dividends and upon liquidation, dissolution, winding up or otherwise. The
holders of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to receive, out of funds legally
available for the payment of quarter-annual dividends. Each quarter-annual dividend is computed by
dividing the annual dividend rate of $0.12 per share by four and is payabie in cash or, at our option, in
shares of Series A Preferred Stock. Series A Preferred Stock dividends are cumulative, whether or not
declared, and are compounded at an annual rate of 6% on the unpaid cumulative balance. No dividends

- may be paid or declared upon junior securities, including common stock, unless full cumulative dividends
on all outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock are paid or have been set apart. Dividends may be
declared on parity securities, only if dividends are also declared on the Series A Preferred Stock ratably in
proportion 10 accumulated and unpaid dividends. On November 29, 2001, the Board of Directors declared
dividends in arrears valued at $193 to be paid in additional shares of Series A Preferred Stock associated
with the March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15, 2001 dividend payments. As a result, the
Company issued 96,367 shares of Series A Preferred Stock on January 28, 2002. On April 26, July 25 and
September 26, 2002, the Board of Directors declared dividends valued at $57 for each declaration paid in
additional shares of Series A Preferred Stock. As 2 result, we issued 28,561 and 28,416 shares of Series A
Preferred Stock for the March 15 dividend payment and the June 15 dividend payment, respectively. As of
December 31, 2002, 28,574 shares of Series A Preferred Stock associated with the September 15 dividend
payment have not been issued.

As of December 31, 2002, approximately $67 of dividends had accumulated and have not been
declared and paid representing dividends in arrears for the period from September 16, 2002 through
December 31, 2602. On January 23, 2003, the Board of Directors declared dividends valued at
approximately 357 relating to the quarterly period through December 15, 2002.
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The Series A Preferred Stock is subject to mandatory redemption by us four years after its
issuance. The Series A Preferred Stock may also be redeemed at our option or the holder under certain
conditions. Subject to certain conditions, holders of Series A Preferred Stock have a right of first offer with
respect to the issuance of any new securities which would reduce such holder's holdings by 10% or more.

On March 1, 2002, we received notification from Nasdaq that our common stock had closed below
the minimum $1.00 per share requirement for the previous 30 consecutive trading days as required under
Marketplace Rule 431C(c){(4).

Cn May 23, 2002, the Nasdaq Qualifications Staff notified the Company that it did not comply
with either the minimum net tangible asseis or the minimum stockholders’ equity requirements for
continued listing set forth in Market Place Rule 4310(2)(B). The Company began trading on the Over-the-
Counter Bulietin Board (CTCBB) effective with the opening of business on October 3, 2002. The trading
symbol remains SENG.

We have capital leases for certain equipment. In a,ddx'ltion, we are obligated under non-cancelable
operating leases for office and warehouse space. The leases provide for all real estate iaxes and operating
expenses to be paid by us. Under certain leases, we have the option to remew for additional terms at
specified rentals. Rent expense for such leases approximated $712, $621, and $538 for the years ended
December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002, respectively.

During 2002, the Company consolidated its two Tinton Falls, New Jersey facilities into one
location and negotiated a settlement which released the Company from any and all obligations associated
with the vacated facility. As part of such settlement, the Company paid $71 to the landlord.

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments for capital and non-cancelable \
operating leases, together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments, as of December 31,
2002:
Capitalized Cperating
Leases Leases

2003 L ettt $ 37 $ 280

2004 ..ottt 5 250

2005 .o OSSOSO SO UU PO RS UPUUURUP TSRO 4 250

Total minimum lease Payments.........cco..cocovuieevoreceeevieeiien s 46 $ 7%

Less amount representing NErest........co.ovvvveerreieereerivernieenrenraenas 4

Present value of net minimum lease payments ................. e s 42

In response to competitive end financial pressures, during the first quarter of 2001, we reduced our
workforce by up to 40% across most departments. -Additionally, our executive officers agreed to salary
reductions. On February 11, 2002, we announced that we had further reduced our staff by seventeen.
These reductions did not affect our sales and marketing depariments, As a result, we took a charge of
approximately $100 the first quarter of 2002.

Our operating results are affected by seasonal factors, particularly the spending fluctuations of our
largest customers including the U.S. Air Force through Federal integrajors. Due to the relatively fixed
nature of certain of our costs, a decline in net sales in any fiscal quarter will have a material adverse effect
on that quarter's results of operations. We do not expect such spending fluctuations to be altered in the
future. A significant reduction in orders from any of our largest customers could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations. There can be no assurance that our largest customers will continue to
place orders with us or that orders of our customers will continue at their previous levels.

Subject to the risks discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe that our existing

available cash and credit facilities will be adequate to satisfy our current and planned operations for at least
the next 12 months. Our operating plan, which for the vear ending December 31, 2003 anticipates a loss
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from operations, contains assumptions regarding revenue and expenses. The achievement of the operating
plan depends heavily on the timing of sales and our ability to gain new customers and make additional sales
to current customers as well as monitoring our on-going costs. The continuation of operating losses,
together with the risks asscciated with our business, and other changes in our operating assets and
liabilities, may have a material adverse affect on the our future liguidity. Inability to improve operating
resulis may require us 10 seek equity financing, which, if required, would cause dilution o our cusrent
stockholders. Further, if we issue additional equity securities, the new equity securities may have rights,
preferences or privileges senior to those of existing holders of our common stock. If needed, there can be
no assurance that we can obtain equity financing, if at all, on terms acceptable to us. If we cannot raise
additional necessary funds, we could be required to reduce our capital expenditures, scale back our research
and product developments, reduce our workforce and license to others products or technologies we would
otherwise seek to commercialize ourselves.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

~ We have limited exposure to financial market risks, including changes in interest rates. At
December 31, 2002, all of our available excess funds were cash or cash equivalents whose value is not
subject to changes in interest rates. We currently hold no derivative instruments and do not eam foreign-
source income. We expect to invest our cash only in debt obligations issued by the U.S. government or its
agencies with maturities of less than one year.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The financial statements required to be filed pursuant to this Item 8 are appended to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. A list of the financial statements filed herewith is found at "Item 15. Exhibits,
Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form §8-K."

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
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- CERTIFICATION

I, Gregg M. Azcuy, certify that:
1. Ihave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Storage Engine, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue staternent of a material fact
or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
" annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
angd cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the
registrant and we have: ‘

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particutarly during the period in which this annual report is
being prepared;

b} evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a
date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date");
and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors {(or persons
performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material
wealmesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees
who have a significant role in the registrant’s intemal controls; and

6. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not
there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect
internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective
actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

{sf Gregg M. Azcuy
Dated: March 31, 2003 Gregg M. Azcuy, President and Chief

Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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CERTIFICATION -

I, Louis J. Altieni, certify that:

L.

2.

S.

Dated:

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Storage Engins, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge; this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of 2 material fact or omit
to state & material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual
report, fairly present in all material respects the finzncial condition, results of operations and cash flows of
the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we
have: - .

a) designed such disclosure cortrols and procedures to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 90 days prior to the filing date of this enmual report (the "Evealuation Date"), and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectivensss of the disclosure controls
and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent e\}aluaﬁon, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data
and have identified for the registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in internal conirols;
and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significent role in the registrant's internal controls; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were
significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls
subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to
significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

{s/ Lowis J. Altierd
March 31, 2003 Louis J. Altieri, Vice President,
Finance and Administration
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Schedﬂm other than those listed are omitted as they are not applicable, or the required or equivalent information has
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- INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Storage Engine, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Storage Engine, Inc. and subsidiaries as
of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated statemenis of operations, shareholders' equity, and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002. Our audits also included the financial
statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility
of the Company's management. Qur r&sponsxblhty is to expms an opinion ‘on these financial statements and
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 1o obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstaternent. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statemenis referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Storage Engine, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the
consolidated resuits of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December
31, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our
opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken
as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

/s/ EISNER, LLP (formerly Richard A. Eisner & Company, LLP)

New York, New York
February 28, 2003
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STORAGE ENGINE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in Thousands)
December 31,
2001 2002

Assgis )

Current Assets: : : . : .
Cash and cash @QUIVAIEIIIS .........oovvrveriererirerctrrrrrsissereissiseessssesesesssssrassssorens $ 3,146 . $ 2,799
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubiful accounts of $20 in 2001 . o .

and $146 in 2002 961 1,048
IRVEDIOTIES ..o evieereerirrrereteeeene e s ers s sarasscseeceseenee s snenis 2,896 1,926
Prepaid expenses and other receivables ' N 111 109

. _ 7,114 5,882
Property and eguipment (B8} .......cccvvvereceeereriseererse e teree s e 922 . 522
ORET BSSLIS .....vevevererecereer e e dese e eresr s saressessses st sestatesebabasesesaes drasansraseeseseniaes - 41 .- 31
TOL ASSEIS....vvvvereverieieceeserenseeestessesssesraess st ssesessesian s eebesssssssarsedenasiones $ 8077 Co 6,435
Lisbilities and Shareholders' Equity T
Current Liabifities: , ST
Loan payable ...t e g . $ 66 § 484
Capital lease obligations..... ' - © 58 34
Accounts payable........coeee.n. 245 598
Accrued expenses and oHer ...l » 683 524
Warranty..... ..o cveeee . 387 293
Deferred revenue 142 55
L 1,581 2,484
Capital lease obligations, net Of CUITERE POTHON ..o.........occoesccreees oo ' 30 8
1611 2492
6% cumulative convertible preferred stock, Series A $.01 par value;
2,231,250 shares authorized; 1,823,125, and 1,848,328 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively, and 96,367 and
28,574 shares issuable at December 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively ... 3,839 3,754
Shareholders' Equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, authorized 3,000,000 shares; issued
2,231,250 Series A shares, outstanding 1,848,328 Series A shares............... - -
Commeon stock, $.01 par value, authorized, 8,333,333 shares; issued and
cutstanding, 2,488,637 and 2,662,519 shares at December 31, 2001 and
2002, respectively... 25 27
Capital in excess of par value 31,287 31,548
Accummtlated QefCI.......c.ivecrieirieees e e sreens (28.685) (31.386)
Total shareholders’ equity 2,627 189
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' EQUILY ......ovvevvveeeerrre e g 8077 $ 6.435
See accompanying notes to consoitdated financial statements.

36




STORAGE ENGINE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

Year Ended December 31
2000 2001 2002
Proguct sales —Net...........ccorveeiverviinerrcereren : $13,993 3 8,799 $ 4,506
Service sales — Det..........oocvvveeririieircs 1,029 1,223 907
Total net sales B A 15.022 10022 5413
Cost of sales:
14,684 5,643 " 3,220
—_ 3% - 523 386
15,268 6,168 3.606
Gross (Geficit) Profit...........cccovvereemeereervicenns (246) 3.854 1,807
Operating expenses: ‘
Selling, general & administrative .................... 10,925 5,588 4,901
Research & development..............cc.ococeene. 2,112 1,308 683
13,037 6,896 5,584
Operating 1SS ....oc.oovevieee e (13,283) (3,042) (3,777
Gain on sale of certain patents & intellectual
PIOPEILY .ovvcienavevna S vt eenr e - - 1,000
Net gain on sale of SANStar - 284 -
Net interest income (eXpense) ....c........ocoo....n. 193 66 4]
Loss before income tax benefit ........................ (13,0%0) {2,692) ,778)
Income tax benefit..........ccccovevivercrrrnes 235 262 68
NEEIOSS.....covvvocveiioreeeceeseareeessssessees s resessrnns (12,855) (2,430) (2,530)
Preferred stock dividend (including .
beneficial conversion feature of $3,764 in 2001) -- (4 625) Q20
Net loss applicable to common shareholders...... §__ (12.855) $ (7,053) s 35D
Net loss per common share — basic and diluted .. s 671 - $ (3.36) s Q0
Weighted average number of common shares —
basic and diluted.............ccooooerrrriereiernnns L9135 1,982 2,577

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STORAGE ENGINE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Balance at January 1, 2000..

Issuance of stock and stock
- option exercises..............

Net'loss...........,..,.....:.;

Balance at December 31,

Issuance of stock and stock
Oplion EXercises.............

Dividends on Series A
preferred stock including
beneficial conversion feature
and fees of $3,764...........

" Conversion of Series A
preferred stock to
COMUTION, .. e v v cnean,

Netloss..........oovvvevnnnnnn.

Dividends on Series A
Preferred Stock.................

Conversion of Series A
preferred stock to

{Dollars in Thousands)
Capital in - Total
' Excessof Accumulate  Shareholders'
Shares Par d Deficit Equity
Amouny — Value
1,890219 § 18 $26469 $ (878) § 17,701
36,871 1 298 - " 299
- - - (12.855)  __ (12.855)
1,927,090 19 26,767 (21,641) 5,145
17,380 1 32 - 33
- - 3,677 - (4,614) (937)
544,167 5 811 T 816
- - - (2.430) (2.430)
2,688,637 25 31,287 " (28,685) 2,627
6,462 -- 6 - 6
- - - Q7 (171)
167,420 2 255 - 257
- - - (2.530) (2,530
2662519 § 27 $31.548  $(31.386) s 189

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STORAGE ENGINE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

{Dollars in Thousands)
’ Yeéar Ended December 31,
2000 2001 2002
Cash flows from operating activities:
NEUIOSS. ..ottt ettt ettt ens s 3 (12,855) $ (2.430) $  (2,530)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net
cash used in operating activities:’ . : ‘
Depreciation and amortization ........ : 1,986 951 . 528
Gain on sale of SANStar ...........cccoocvirvvieniiniinnnnn, - (284) -
Gain on sale of certain patents and intellectual property - - (1,000)
Wnteoﬂ‘ofcapxtahzedsoﬁware .................... 1,738 ~ L -
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease (mcrease) i accounts Teceivable. ... 4,930 62) (87)
Decrease i IVENLOTIES............cesurveririrenrenise st e esses e eenn 1,118 1,556 970
{Increase) decrease in prepmd expenses and other )
TECEIVADIES.......orveniivs e e s st et se et en o (39) 203 12
{Decrease) increase in accounts payable, accrued habmhhs : :
BRA OHET ..o et 472y (2,481 - 100
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue ... 144 409
Net cash used in OpErating ACHYVINES . ................o.oooooorerreeerereersreserrerrresereenr (3450 261 (1,598)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to property and equipment............... BN 475 (461) (128)
- Gross proceeds from sale of SANStar.................... - 580 -
Gross proceeds from the sale ofcerts.mpaim&andmteﬂlecumlpropaty “ 50
- - 1,
© Additions to capitalized software................ ‘ = =
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities, (1.749) 119 872
Cash flows from financing activities: .
Botrowings under revolving credit agreement..........occcovvvereerrerieieninnns 17,283 5,673 5,963
Repayments under revolving credit gReement .. ...............cccooovevrccriuererne (17.122) (5,768) - (5,545)
Decrease in payable to Finova Capital...............cc.coocevurveenriornneonnenen. (853) (115) -
Repayment of capital lease obligations ............ccocvrerevniiierinvecennrcsverees (180) (114) (46)
Proceeds from exercise of employee stock options and .
issuance of COMMON SOCK........covcriverrmrccrrreercrcrsneies st 299 33 7
Net proceeds from sale of Series A Prefesred Stock - 3.715 -
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities.............oveevcevrereriieenenns (573 3.424 379
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents................ciceccvvriernnne 5,772 . 925 347)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginming of Yar ..........coocvvccovvcervivnicnrrennnes 7 2221
Cash and cash equivalents at end of YEar..............c.ccouivereemccnrecneconeronnennace §. 2221 § 3146 & _ 2799
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for:
IIRRTESL ..ot e $ 141 g 44 S
Supplemental dxsclosure of non-cash investing .
and financing activities:
Property scquired under capital lease obligations..........cc..ccorerininnn. $ 57 - | I ¥ )
Fees related to issuance of Series A Preferred Stock... ... = 3 455 —_—
Dividends related to issuance of Series A Preferred Stock = $§ 193 . S——) |
Conversion of Series A Preferred to Common Stock...........cc.coovevenn. = g 8I6 S 257
Issuance of additional Series A Preferred Stock
relating to shelf TegIStration ...........cvcvvemirceererinrens e s = 213 =
Beneficial conversion feature on issuance of
Series A Preferred Stock.........ccoo.vvereiniveniiinnineiiersisecn s = 3 3764 =

See accompanying notes {o consolidated financial siatements.
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STORAGE ENGENE, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(DoRars in Thousands Except Per Share Informeation)

Note 1 - The Company

Storage Engine, inc. (“the Company”) is a provider of document imaging solutions and fault tolerant, cost
effective enterprise data storage solutions that serve a wide range of business and government markets. =

Through the Company’s knowledge of the use of information and its handling, in connectivity options such
as Direct Attached Storage (DAS), Network Attached Storage (NAS), Storage Area Networks (SAN) and the
centralization of those technologies/resources, including disaster recovery and backup technologies, the Company
seeks to design and impiement the optimal information storage solution to meet user needs, including the
Company’s data intensive imaging customers. The Company offers specific solutions, as well as comprehensive
information management systems, that store, capture and distribute information, including documnent conversions,
workflow and day forward soluhons for private or web enabﬂed content.

Note 2 - Liguidity

The Company has incurred net losses and utilized cash in its operating activities for gach of the vears ended
December 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, and its annual net sales have declined sigmﬁcamly during such three year
period. For e year ended December 31, 2003, management anticipates & growth in net sales atfributable to its
imaging division, and intends to further mduce payroll and other costs, however, management anticipates that net
losses will continue and that additional cash will be utilized for operations during such year. Management believes
that its working capital at December 31, 2002 togsther with its credit facility will be adequate fo finance the
Company's operations for:2003 and enabﬂe the Company fo execute its business plan and ultimately achieve
profitable operations. :

Neote 3 -- Summeary of §§gmﬁﬁwm Acmmmﬁmg Policies
Principles of Consolidation
: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its' wholly owned
subsidiaries. None of the subsidiaries are active. Afl significant intercompany balances and tranisactions have been
eliminated. 7
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers short-term investments with a maturity of three months or R&ss when pmchased t0
be cash eguivalents. :
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumnuiated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation

and amortization are provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives ranging from three to five
years.

Equipment under capital leases is recorded at the lower of fair value or present value of minimum lease
payments af the inception of the lease and are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Amortization of leasehold
improvements is computed using the straight-line method over the term of the lease.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value amounts for -accounts receivable and short term debt approximate carrymg amounts due io
the short maturity of these instruments.

Software Development Costs

The Company capitalizes software development cosis in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 86. Such cosis are capitalized afier technological feasibility has been
demonsirated. Such capitalized amounts are amortized commencing with product introduction on a siraight-line
basis utilizing the estimated economic life ranging from one to three years. Amortization of capitalized sofiware
development is charged to cost of sales and aggregated, $919, $156, and zero for 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively.
The Company did not capitalize any software development costs during 2001 and 2002.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, the
Company records impairment losses on long-lived assets used in operations or expected to be disposed of when
indicators of impairment exist and the cash flows expected to be derived from those assets are less than the carrying
amounts of those assets. No such events and circumstances have occurred.

Revenue Recognition

. Revenue is recognized upon shipment of the product when all risks of ownership have passed to the
customer and the Company has no specific performance obligations remaining.

‘Revenue related to imaging services are recognized upon customer sccepiance. Amounts received in
advance of acceptance are recorded as deferred revenue in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Revenues related to maintenance contracts are recognized over the respective terms of the maintenance
contracts.

Warranty

Estimated future wamranty oblxga.nons related the Company’s products are provndedl by charges to
operations in the period the related revenue is recognized.

Research and Development Costs
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-Research and development costs are expensed as incurred, except for software development costs as
indicated above.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for by the liability method in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 109
" Accounting for Income Taxes”.

Stock Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method prescribed in
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employess," and related
interpretations. Accordingly, compensation cost for stock options generally is measured as the excess, if any, of the
guoted market price of the Company's stock over the amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock on the date
that both the exercise price and the number of shares to be acquired pursuant to the option are fixed. The Company
has adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” and
SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure”, which was released in
December 2002 as an amendment to SFAS No. 123

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expense over
the options' vesting period. The Company's pro forma information is as follows (in thousands except for eamings
per share information):

Year Ended December 31,
2000 2001 2002
Net loss applicable to common shareholders as $ (12,855) $ (7,055) $ 2,757)

Stock based employee compensation determined

under the fair value based method. ..., (1.959) (2.004} {1469
Pro formanet I0SS.........ccoooooevviieieieceeveee e $§ (14,814} g (5059 $ (4,226)
Loss per share as reported ,

Basic and dileted ......c.ocooooreereoe e $  (6T1) § (356 $ _aon
Pro forma loss per share ‘

Basic and diluted...........ccooooveeveeeiereeie e $ (7174 $ (457 § _ (1sd

The fair value for the options was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model
with the following weighted-average assumptions for 2000, 2001 and 2002: risk-free interest rates of between
5.8%-6.65% in 2000, 3.22%-4.82% in 2001 and 1.16%-1.92% in 2002; dividend yields of zero, respectively;
volatility factors of the expected market price of the Company's common stock of 116.8% in 2000, 157.9% in 2001
and 160.9% in 2002; and a weighted-average expected life of six years. The weighted average fair market value of
stock opiions granted in 2000, 2001 and 2002 was $3.31, $.50 and $.88 per share, respeciively.

Per Share Information

On July 10, 2001, the Company announced the approval of a 1.6 reverse stock split effective on the close of
business on Friday, July 20, 2001, pursuant to which one new share of common stock was issued in exchange for
each six outstanding shares of common stock, concurrent with the changing of the Company’s name from ECCS,
Inc. to Storage Engine, Inc. All prior periods presented have been adjusted to reflect such stock split.

Basic eamnings per common share is calculated by dividing net loss increased by cumulative dividends of
Series A Preferred Stock by the weighted average number of commeon shares outstanding during the year. In fiscal
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2000, 2001 and 2002, diluted earnings per share does not include the anti-dilutive effects of options, warrants and
convertible securities exercisable or convemble nto an aggregate of 530,843, 501,572, and 1,485,069 common
shares, respectively.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets
and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and the reporting of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual resuits could differ from those estimates.

Reclassification

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior consolidated financial statements to conform with the
cufrent year’s presentation,

Noie 4 — Transactions with Significant Vendors and Customers

The Company relies on certain distributors to supply it with component products from Sun Microsystems
and Seagate Technologies. Although the Company believes alternative distributors of these products are available,
the Company cannot be certain that it can obtain them on a timely and cost-effective basis. The Company’s primary
vendor for these third party products in 2002 was Nu Horizons. During fiscal 2002, purchases from Nu Horizons
totaled $408, or 24.7%, of the Company’s total purchases. The Company dnd not have any purchases from Nu
Horizons in 2001 and 2009,

The Company also has a supply arrangement with Bell Microproducts pursuant to which the Company
orders from Bell Microproducts when, and as needed, and on terms negotiated at the time of each order. In 2000,
2001 and 2002, purchases from Bell Microproducts aggregated approxxmately $4,167 or 26.1%, 31,822 or 52.7%,
and $387 or 23.4%, of all purchases, respectively.

‘ Sales to the U.S. Air Force, an end user of the Company’s products through Federal integrators, totaled
$4,576 or 30.5%, $4,729 or 47.2%, and $2,307 or 42.6% of total net sales in 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively.
The Company cannot be certain that its sales to the U.S. Air Force through Federal integrators will not be adversely
affected by the investigation further discussed in Note 13. There are no minimum purchase requirements.

In addition, the Company made sales to the U.S. Air Force through an integrator in 2001 and 2002 of
$1,583 or 15.8% of total net sales and $1,464 or 27.1% of total net sales, respectively. Sales to one commercial
customer amounted to $540 or 10% of the Company’s total net sales in 2002.

Segment Information

All of the Company's revenues are generated in the United States. The Company believes that it has one
operating segmeni and classifies its revenues based upon iis primary sales channels: commercial, other Federal,
alternate channel partners, U. S. Air Force and imaging. The Company's revenue consists principally of its high
performance storage subsystems. The U.S. Air Force principally purchases certain products of the Company,
however, all Company products are available for sale in each of the channels. Revenues by sales channel are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker.
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The following table sets forth the net sales denved from each of the Company’s sales channels:

Yea:r Endledl December 311
2000 2001 2002
Commercial, other Federal and
alternate channel parmers................... s $ 10446. § 5,293 $ 2,682
US. AT FOICE ... eiieeiie vttt ies et e e 4,576 4,729 2,307
IMAEING. .....ocveveverecveeeeees e, 424

&__LQBLZM&_QZZQ__

All operating expenses and assets of the Company are combined and reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker on an enterprise-wide basis, resulnng i no additional discrete ﬁnmcnaﬁ mformation or reportable segmem
information.

Note § - Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

December 31,
: . — L 2001 2002
Purchesed PartS............ovovvoeiriier el e e 80 1,380 $ . 23888
Finished goods........cccocvvvnen. cevendiieenens ettt ettt et et e 3,439 - 364
o . . o . 4,819 3,252
Less: nventory valuation TESETVE........c..covreieieeeeeeveeeerereeenecens 1,923 1.326

s 2.89% $ 1926

Note 6 — Property and Egquipment
Property and equipment consist of the following;
December 31,

: : ‘ 2001 2002
Furniture and fixtures......... FOTPOTO USRI e et $ 483 $ 483
Computer equipment................... ’ 6,231 6,390
VEIICIES ...vvev ettt ettt 13 13
Leasehold improvements .............. ) . 369 , 1362
Equipment under capital leases : e, . 619 476

: : 7715 7,724
Less accumnulated depreciation and amortization, including $531 and
$436 relating to equipment under capital leases at December 31,
2001 and 2002, 1ESPECHVELY .....oovvveverrcrrivcrriinini e eneeeniscnea 6,793 7,202

Depreciation and’ amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2000 2001 amd 2602 was $1,986, 951
and $528, respectively.

Note 7 - Preferved Stock
The Company has an authorized class of 3,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock which may be issued by the

Board of Directors on such terms and with such rights, preferences and designations as the Board may determine.
On March 8, 2001, the Company designated 1,788,750 shares as 6% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock, Series
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A ("Series A Preferred Stock"). On April 4, 2001, April 19, 2601 and Qctober 15, 2001, the Company increased
the number of shares designated as Series A Preferred Stock to 1,793,750, 2,125,000 and 2,231,250, respectively.

©On March 9, 2001, the Company issued 1,450,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock to certain accredited
investors pursuant to the iitial closing of a private placement of its Series A Preferred Stock (the "Private
Placement") for gross proceeds equal to-$2,900. On April 4, 2001 and April 19, 2001, the Company issued to
accredited investors 250,000 and 300,000 sharss of additiona! Series A Preferred Stock, respectively. In addition,
the Company issued an aggregate of 125,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock valued at $250 to C.E. Unterberg,
Towbin ("Unterberg Towbin"), the Company's financial advisor in the Private Placement, for services provided in

connection with the Private Placement. The Company recerved aggregate gross procseds of $4,0C0 in connection
with the Private Placement.

In connection with the issuance of the Series'A Preferred Stock, the Comparry recorded a dividend to Series
A Preferred shareholders of appromna,tely $3,764 represeniing the beneficial conversion feature resuiting from the
difference between the conversion price and thé quoted market price of the Company's common stock as at the date

of issuance. In addition, the Company incurred fees related to the issuance of Serres ‘A Preferred Stock in the
amount of $205 asa preferred stock drvrdend

The terms and conditions of the Private P]acemem provided fora cash payment or the issuance of additional
shares of the Company's Series A Preferred Stock if a shelf registration statement covering the shares of Common
Stock underlying the Series A Preferred Stock issued i the Private Placement was not declared effective by the SEC
within 180 days following each of three closmg dates in the Private Placement. Since a shelf registration stateémént
covering such sharés was not declared effective by the SEC within the allowable timeframes, the Company issued

an. aggregate of 106,250 additional shares of its Series A Preferred Stock valued a8 $213 ¢o it Series A Preferred
Stock shareholders on October 16, 2001.

Each share of Series A Preferred Stock was initially convertible, at the opticn of its holder, at any time after
issuance, into eight shares of Common Stock. As a result-of the one-for-six reverse stock split of the Company's
Common Stock, effective July 20, 2001, each share of Series A Preferred Stock is currently-convertible into one and
one-third (1.1/3) shares of Common Stock. The conversion ratio is subject to adjustments under certain conditions.
- During 2001 and 2002, respectively, 408,125 and 128,141 shares of Series A Prefeired Stock were converted into
544,167 and 167,420 shares of common stock at the request of certain Series A Preferred Stock shareholders. The
Series A Preferred Stock is automatically convertible upon the consummation of the Company's sale of Common
Stock in a public offering that meets certain terms. The holders of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to vote on
all. matters that the holders of the Company's Common Stock are entitled to vote upon, on an as-converted to
Common Stock basis. In addition, the vote of 66-2/3% of the holders of Series A Preferred Stock is required in
certain circumstances. The Series A Preferred Stock ranks senior to the Common Stock with respect to dividends
and upon lquidation, dissolution, winding up or otherwise. The holders of the cutstanding shares of Series A
Preferred Stock are entitied to receive, out of funds legglly available for the payment of dividends, quarter-snnusl
dividends. Each quarter-annual dividend is computed by dividing the annual dividend rate of $0.12 per share by
four and is payable in cash or, at the option of the Company, in shares of Series A Preferred Stock. Series A
Preferred Stock dividends are cumulative, whether or not declared, and are compounded at an annual rate of 6% on
the unpaid cumulative balance. No dividends may be paid or declared upon junior securities, including Common
Stock, unless full cumulative dividends on all outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock are paid or have bsen
set apart. Dividends may be declared on parity securities, ‘only if dividends are aiso declared on the Series A
Preferred Stock ratably in propomon to accumulated and unpaid dividends. On November 29, 2001, the Board of
Directors declared dividends in arrears valued at $193 to be paid in additional shares of Séries A Preferred Stock
associated with the March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15, 2001 dividend peyments. As a result, the
Company issued 96,367 shares of Series A Preferred Stock on January 28, 2002. On April 26, July 25 and
September 26, 2002, the Board of Directors declared dividends valued at $57 for each declaration, paid in additional
shares of Series A Preferred Stock. As a result, the Company issued 28,561 and 28,416 shares of Series A Preferred
Stock for the March 15 dividend payment and the June 15 dividend payment, respectively. As of December 31,

2002, 28,574 shares of Series A Preferred Stock associated with the September 15 dividend payment have not been
tssued.

) As of December 31, 2002, approxrmately $67 of drvrdends hazd accumulated and have not been declared
and paid representing drvrdends in arrears for the period from September 16, 2002 through December 31, 2002. On
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Jenuary 23, 2003, the Board of Directors declared davndends valued at a.ppmxmaﬂeﬁy $57 relating to the quarterly
period through December 15, 2002.

The Series A Preferred Stock is subject to mandatory redemption by the Company four years afler its
issuance. The Series A Preferred Stock may also be redeemed at the option of the Company or the holder under
certain conditions. Subject to certain conditions, holders of Series A Preferred Stock have a right of first offer with
respect to the issuance of any new securities which would redice such holder's holdings by 10% or more.

Note 8 — Loan Payable

The Company has a full recourse factoring facility with GMAC Commercial Credit LLC (GMAC) which
provides for aggregate advances not 1o exceed the lesser of $7 million or up to 85.0% of eligible receivables (as
defined - $852 as of December 31, 2002). Interest on such advances is payable monthly in arrears at the prime
tending rate and the Company is obligated to pay certain annual fees. The factoring facility currently expires on
July 30, 2003 and may be extended on an annual basis thereafter until terminated by either party upon providing
sixty days prior written notice. The obligations of the Company under such agresment are collateralized by
substantially all of the assets of the Company. As of December 33 2002, the Company had an outstanding balance
of $484 under this full recourse factoring facility.

The Company's original agreement with GMAC restricted the Company’s ability to pay certain dividends
without GMAC's prior written consent. In December 2001, GMAC modified the agreement to allow the Company
to pay dividends with respect to the Series A Preferred Stock in the form of shares of Series A Preferred Stock.

The Company has certain covenants with GMAC all of which are in compliance as of December 31, 2002.
Note 9 - E.M ' '

The Company has capital leases for certain equipment. In a.ddmon, the Company is obligated unden' non-
cancelable operating leases for office and warehouse space. The leases provide for all real estate taxes and opsrating
expenses (o be paid by the Company. Under certain leases, the Company has the option to renew for additional
terms at specified rentals. Rent expense for such leases approximated $712 $621 and $538 for me years ended
December 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectweiy

" During 2002, the Company consohdated its Tinton Falls, New Jersey, facilities into one location and
negotiated a settlement which released the Company from any and all obligations associated with the vacated
Facility. As part of such settlement, the Company paid 371 to the andﬂord

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease paymems for capntaﬂ and non-cancelable operating
leases, together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments, as of December 31, 2002:

Capitalized ‘ Operating
Leases Leases

2003 .ottt b $ 37 . 8 280
2004.............. URORU SO et aas e pannian - ©, 250
2005.......comrimirnenieeeeisene s e s 4 250
Total minimum lease PEYMERLS..........oocoovveiernrirenrerseereeeeas . 46 £ 780
Less amount representing interest ..........c.coveevevcvrrieonunenrcerererenns 4 .
Present value of net minimum lease payments .....................co...... 3 42

Note 10 - Stock Option Plans
The Company has the following stock option plans:
The 1989 Stock Option Plan

Under the Company's 1989 Stock Option Plan, as amended, 150,000 sheres of common stock can be issued
through incentive stock options and non-statutory stock options. The incentive stock options allow designated full-
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time employees, including officers, to purchase shares of common stock at prices equal to fair market value at the
date of grant. For individuals who own more than 10% of the stock of the Company, the exercise price for the
shares may not be less than 110% of the fair market value on the date of grant. The incentive stock options expire
five years from the date of the grant for shareholders owning more than 10% of the voting rights (as defined). The
non-statutory stock options may be granted to full-time employees, including officers and non-employee directors or
consultants at prices as deiermined by the Board of Directors. The stock options are exercisable over a period
determined by the Board of Directors. To date, no options have been granted with a vesting period of more than five
years.

A summary of the changes in outstanding common stock options under the 1989 Stock Option Plan is as

follows:
Options Cutstanding
Weighted-Average
' Shares Exercise Price
Balanceaﬂanuaryl 2000, s 20,266 $ 1224
Options exercised.................... et et et ne - (5.542) 3.88
Balance at December 31, 2000.........oooimiec oo 14,724 13.50
Options caNCEIER............oovriiiceiii e (3.449) 8.90
Balance at December 31, 2001 . 11,275 1491
Options canceled.................ioeeveeieieeeeeeee e - {233) 6.00
Balance at December 31, 2002, . ..o o 11,042 3 J510
Options exercisable at December 31, 2002...........coo.eoovrvrrrrrrnrennn. - 11,042 $ 1510

The weighted average rerriaining contractual life for the balance of options outstanding at December 31,
2002 in the 1989 Stock Option Plan is two years and the exercise price range is $9.00 - $17.22. ~

1996 Stock Option Plan

in June 1996, me Board of Directors of the Company adopied the 1996 Stock Plan. In June 1958 and June
2002, the shareholders approved increases in the number of shares subject to the 1996 Siock Plan. Under the 1996
Stock Plan, 1,266,667 shares of common stock currently can be issued through incentive stock options and non-
statutory stock options and/or stock purchase rights. The incentive stock options allow designated employees, non-
employee directors and consultants to purchase shares of common stock at prices equal to fair market value at the
date of grant. For individuals who own more than 10% of the stock of the Company, the exercise price for the
shares may not be less than 110% of the fair market value on the date of grant. The incentive stock options expire
five years from the date of grant for shareholders owning more than 10% of the voting rights (as defined}. The non-
statutory stock options may be granted to employees, non-employee directors and consultanis at prices as
determined by the Board of Directors. - The stock options are éxercisable over a period determined by the Board of
Directors. To date, no options have been granted with a vesting period of more than five years.

A summary of the chahgm in outstanding common stock options under the 1996 Stoéic_Plan is as follows:

COptions Cutstanding
Weighted-Average
Shares Exercise Price
Balance at January 1, 2000...........cccoooivrmiiiriee e 149,726 $ 17.70
Options granted..............c.ocovvvivrnieie et 75,367 37.14
OPHONS EXETCISEA........cociiviriiii vttt {22,742) 7.62
Options canceled..............ocoeiiiviiiece e {32.867) 27.96
Balance at December 31,2000, e, 169,484 25.68
OpHons Granted...........cc.o.oooovi it 70,355 2.64
Options canceled.............oooooriiovie e (81.623) 26.24
Balance at December 31, 2008........coovvieiivieieeree e 158,216 15.16




Options granted : R 432,556 " 0.85
Options cancaled R ' (120.331) 2.79

Balance at Dacember 31, 2002 ‘ . 469%41 - ___ 8 517
Options exercisable at December 31, 20602 : 3.34 $15.16

’K'hé wéighted average remaining contractual life for the balance of options outstanding at December 31,
2002 in the 1996 Stock Option Plan is seven years and the exercise price range is $.30 - $103.86.

Non-Qualified Stock Options

A summary of the changes in outstanding common stock options under Non-Qualified agreements is as

follows:

Options Qutstanding
Weighted-Average
Shares Exercise Price
127,701 % 3222
147,383 16.68
Options cancsled (3.258) 16.44
Balance at December 31, 2000 271,826 ‘ 24.00
Options granted e 34,774 ) 4,11
Options canceled o {60,350y 15.54
Balance at December 31, 2001 . 23.27
Options granted ‘ 0.39
Cptions canceled : e \ ‘ 16.68
Balance at December 31, 2002 ' 6
COptions exercisable at December 31, 2002

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the balance of options cutstanding at December 31,
2002 under Non-Qualified agreements is seven years and the exercise price range is $.89 - $64.50.

1996 Non-Employee Directors Siock Option Plan '

In February 1996, the Board of Directors of the Company adopted the 1696 Non-Employee Directors Stock
Option Plan (the "1996 Non-Empioyee Directors Pian") pursuant to which 83,333 shares of Common Stock can be
issued through non-statutory stock options. - Under the terms of the 1996 Non—EmpBoyee Directors Plan, each non-
employee director who first becomes a member of the Board aﬁen' approval of such plan by the shareholders of the
Company, shall be automstically granted, on the date such person becomes a member of the Board, an option to
purchase 5,000 shares of Common Stock. In addition, each non-employee director who is 3 membér of the Board on
the first trading day of each year shall be automatically granted on such date, without further action by the Board, an
option to purchase 833 shares of Common Stock. The exercise price per share under the 1996 Non-Employee
Directors Plan shall be equal to the fait market value (as defined) of a share of Common Stock on the applicable
grant date, and options granted under the 1996 Non-Employee Directors Plan vests over a four-year period.
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A summary of the changes in ouistanding common stock options under the 1996 Norn-Employee Directors

Plan is as follows:
Options Qutstanding :
Weighted-
. Average
Shares Exercise Price
20,000 $25.38
_ 5,000 101.64
25,000 40.62
11,023 1.78
36,023 28.75
— 16226 1.00
_ 52,252 - $2013
39766 —$1941

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the balance of options outstanding at December 31,
2001 under the 1996 Non-Employee Directors Plan is six years and the exercise price range is $0.45 - $101.63,

The following table summarizes information about the Company's stock options outstanding at December

31, 2002.
Outstanding Exercisable
Range of Number of Weighted Weighted Numbér of Weighted
Exercise Price Options Average Average Options Average
Remaining Exercise Price Exercise Price
Years of
Contractual Life
$0-8.90 991,407 9 $0.87 5,532 $0.67
$.91 - $8.00 218912 6 $5.02 164,955 $5.57
$8.01 - $40.00 150,885 6 $19.02 143,000 $16.65
$40.01 - $110.00 74,057 7 $67.67 53,900 $66.68
Total 1,435261 367,477

Stock Warrants

At December 31, 2002, 49,808 common stock purchase warréms with an exercise price of $7.50 per share
were outstanding. Such warrants, which are held by a dlrector of the Company, expire in 2004. At December 31,

2002, all such warrants were exercisable.

The Company has reserved 1,485,069 shares of Common Stock for the exercise of stock opnons and

warrants as described above.
Note 11 -- Empleyee Steck Purchase Plan
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In June 1995, the Company adopted a 1995 Emplovee Stock Purchase Plan (the "Purchase Plan"). The
Purchase Plan aliows eligible employees to purchase up to an aggregate of 66,667 shares of Common Stock, through
payroll deductions during a Purchase Period, at 2 purchase price that shall be the lesser of (2) 85% of the fair market
value of a share of Commen Stock on the first day of such Purchase Period, or (b} 85% of the fair market value of 2
share of Common Stock on the exercise Date of such Purchase Period, as each of such terms are defined in the

Purchase Plan. At December 31, 2002, 64,998 shares were issued under the Purchase Plan, of which 6,462 were
issued in 2002.

Note 12 — Income Tanes
The provision for income tax (benefit) is comprised of the foiiowing:

December 31 ,-

2000 2001

(262) 225)

§ (248)

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of net operating loss, tax credit carryforward and temporary

differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for tax purposes.

Significant components of the Company's deferred tax balances as of December 31, 2001 and 2002 are as
follows:

2001 2002

TaX CBGS ...ooov..oooveeeeeeeo oo eeees oo e $ 927 $ 763
Net OPErating JOSSES ......oovverreeerireceeieier e eve v sseae e sees 7,907 9,130
Inventory, warranty and Other TESETVES..........ov..vvevveeeeecererenseesrsonn 1,075 840

ValUALON AMOWAMCE ....oveeeeveeee e eeeeeeeeereres et seeseesen e sesresesesean e e reeen — {9.909) 10,733

Under SFAS No. 109, a valuation aliowance is established, if based on the weight of available evidence, it
is more likely than not that a portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. Accordingly, a full valuation
allowance has been provided to off-set the Company's deferred tax assets since the Company is in a cumulative Joss
position. Such valuation allowance will be reassessed periodically by the Company.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company has Net Operating Loss (NOL) carryforwards for Federal income
tax purposes of approximately $25,673, which will begin to expire in 2009. The Company also has research and
development tax credit carryovers for Federal income tax purposes of approximately $632, which will begin to
expire in 2009. In addition, the Company has alternative minimum tax credits of approximately $76, which can be
carried forward indefinitely. The Company expenenced a chenge in ownership in 1996 ("1996 Ownershxp Change")
as defined by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. Accordingly, future use of ﬂhese NOLs and income tax
credits will be limited.
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The issuance of Series A Preferred Stock in 2001 may create & ¢hange in the ownership of the Company as
defined by Section 382. Therefore, future use of NOLs a.nd income tax crednts gcnemed subsequent to the 1996
Ownership Change may be limited. ‘ . :

As of December 31, 2002 the Company has approximately $8,013 of state NOL carryforwards which will
begm 10 expire in 2005 and state research and developmem tax credit can'yforwmds of $86 which will begin o
expire in 2004, : . . o o

The dlfferences between the provision for income taxes amd income wx&e computed using the statutory
Federal income tax rate were as follows:

.Dj@ecember 31,

~ : - : 2000- 2001 : 2002
Computed 2% BENOfit. ... ... ev s e B (4451 8 (B15) S (%44
Increase in valuation allowance 4,986 686 824
Sale of state NOL and R&D credit/other...................cccoovvviniinnienninn. {710) m) (128)
Acmaltaxbeneﬁt.‘.....‘...‘.‘....: ............ e, B (235) & (262) $ (48

During the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company sold approximately $5,189 of state NOL carryforwards
and 340 of research and development tax credit carryforwards to an unrelated third party for approximately $235.
During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company sold approxnmately $8,147 of state NOQL carryovers to an unrelated
third party for approximately $262

Durmg the fourth quarier of 2002, the Company sold approxxmately $256 of Sme research and
development tax credits {o an unrefated third party for apprommastely $225 Lo

Note 13 — Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has adopted a plan whereby senior management will be entitled ‘to six months severance
payments in the event of certain terminations after a change-in-sontrol of the Company, and an incentive bonus will
be paid if such persons are still in the employ of the Company at the comj pﬁemn of a change—m-comrol

In late January 2000, the Company received a subpoena from the United States Attorney's Ofﬁce in Boston,
Massachusetts for the production of: documenis in connection ‘with an investigation into Federal government
purchasing. -The Company has been and intends to continue cooperating with the investigation and is complying
fully, and intends to continue to comply fully, with the subpoena. Thé Company sells computer products to
companies which are used by the Federal government to supply computer products to the US. Air Force. In
addition, subpoenas were received by several of the Company’s employees, including certain -officers, who have
testified before the grand jury. it appears that one avenue-of inquiry involves the relationships and transactions of
various suppliers, manufacturers (including the Company), and other companies, with companies that provide
product and product-related services to the U.S. Air Force. The Company understands that the government's inguiry
includes a review of the conduct of such companies and their officers and employees. The Company believes that it

has not violated any Federal laws in connection with the Company’s sals of computer products ultimately received
by the U.S. Air Force.

In October 2000, one of the integrators to which the Company sells its products, KKP Corp., and its
president pled guiity to Federal charges of mail fraud and conspiracy to defraud the United States in connection with
the sale of computer products and related services 1o the U.S. Air Force. The Company is referred to in the court
papers (known as the "Information") in such case. The Information states that the defendants periodically issued
invoices to the Company for fictitious services to the U.S. Air Force that were never provided and passed such
payments along to co-conspirators. The Information also states that one of the co-conspirators caused the Company
"to pay a kickback of five hundred dollars for each unit scld to the Air Force, with the proceeds going to the benefit
of the co-conspirators.” The Company is not identified as a co-conspirator in the Information. The Company
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believes that it had a reasonable basis to believe these services to the U.S. Air Force were performed; that all
payments made by us to XKP Corp. were properly authorized; and that the Company has not violated any Federal
faws in connection with its sale of computer products to KK? Corp. which were ultimately received by the U.S. Air
Force.

in October 2000, two employees of a company which assisted the Air Force in procuring computer-refated
products and other related parties were indicted on multiple Federal charges, including wire fraud, conspiracy to
defraud the United States and money laundering in conmnection with the sale of computer products and related
services from several vendors, including the Company, to the U.S. Air Force.. The defendants in the Indictment
appear 0 be the co-conspirators referred to in the Information. The Company is referred to in the Indictment in
terms similar to the Information. The Company believes that it had a reasonable basis to believe the services to the
U.S. Air Force billed by some of the defendants in the Indictment were performed; that all payments made by the
Company to any of the defendants in the Indictment were properly authorized; and that the Company has not
violated any Federal laws in connection with the its sale of computer products which were ultimately received by the
U.S. Air Foree.

in December 2000, the United States Attorney's Office in Boston, Massachusetts advised the Company
through its attorneys that the United States government has no present intentions of filing charges against the
Company or any of its employees. The Company continues to believe that it has not violated any Federal laws in
connection with its sale of computer products which were ultimately received by the United States Air Force.

In late 2002, the Company was contacted through its counsel by an Assistant United States Atiomey in the
Civil Division of the United States Attorney’s office in Boston who raised the question of whether the Company had
civil responsibility to the government for the events described above. The government indicated its belief that it
may have civil causes of action against the Company under Federal, state and common law arising from or in
connection with the work performed for, and billings to, the Federal government. Discussions are ongoing between
the government and Company counsel regarding the merits of such causes of action and the possible settlement of
the same prior to any possible litigation.

In September 1959, the Company entered into g Master Sale Agreement with Hitachi Computer Products
(America), Inc. Pursuant to such agreement, Hitachi began assembling the Synchronix 2000 in January 2001. The
agreement does not contain specific quantity commitments and purchases are made on a purchase order basis. The
agreement does not include any long-term commitment by either party.

On June 22, 2001, the Compeany notified Hitachi of the Company's intent to terminate the Master Sale
Agreement as of September 22, 2001 in accordance with the requirements of such agreement. The Company will
assemble the Synchronix product previously assembled by Hitachi internally in the Company's New Jersey facility.
Hitachi was refusing to deliver certain goods which the Company had paid for in full. On October 10, 2001, the
Company filed suit against Hitachi in Federal District Court in New Jersey seeking specific performance on the
delivery of such goods, which was subsequently delivered. In December 2001, both parties agreed to resolve this
matter in binding arbitration. On February 28, 2003, the Decision of Arbitrator was received awarding Hitachi §24,
which was offset by attorney fees awarded to the Company in the amount of $6, resulting in a sum payable to
Hitachi of $18.
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Note 14 -- Quarterly Financial Information

Net sales
Gross profit

' Net income (loss)

Net loss applicable to common

Shareholders _
Net loss per share — basic®

Net loss per share-dilutive®

Net sales

Gross profit

Net income (loss)

Net loss applicable to common
shareholders

Net (loss) income per share-basic

" Net (loss) income per share-dilutive®

Q1
$4,207

1,793
42

(2,450
(1.27)
$(1.27)

Q1
$1,157

431
979}

(1,034).

(41)
$(.41)

Quarterly Financial Information

{unaudited)

2601
Q2
$2,576

1,023
(703)

(2,492)
(1.29)
$(1.29)
2032

Q@
$1,419
532
(779)

(836)
(33)
$(.33)

Q3
$1,169

196
(1,372)

(1,588)
(0.82)

*$(0.82)

Q3
$1,876
805
362

305
12
'$.07

Q4
$2,070

842
(397)

(525)
(0.25)
$(0.25)

Q4
$961

39
(1,134)

{1,192)
(.45)
$(.45)

* Eamings per share amounts for both basic and dilutive for each quarter are required to be
computed independently. As a resuit, their sum does not equal the total year net loss per

share amount.
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STORAGE ENGINE, Inc, and Subsidiaries
Schedule I - Vaiuation and Qualifying Accounts

(in thousands)
" Column B Column C

Additions

Charged
1o
Costs and
Expenses

Charged o
Cther
Accounts-
Describe

Balance at
DESCRIPTION Beginning

Year ended December 31, 2002:

Allowance for doubtful
Accounts & returns/credits

Deductions-
Describe

Tax valuation allowance
Inventory valuation allowance

Warranty reserve

Yedr-ended December 31, 2001:

Allowance for doubtful

Accounts & returns/credits...............coooveeen. $ 310 "~ $ - 8 - $250 (A) $ 2
Teax valuation allowance............c....co.ooe... $§ 9223 $ - 3 68C} § - § 9.909
Inventory valuation allowance................. 2.467 8 338 § - 3882(B) 1,923
WaITanty reS8IVe... .....oeovoreeceererseccnnnrennenn, $ 517 s$(90YD) $ - -~ $ - § 387
Year ended December 21, 2000: '

Allowance for doubtful

Accounts & returns/eredits...............c.oeee.n. g - $§ 310 ¢ - 8 = §_ 310
Tax valuation allowance.............cc.ocooveeevee. § 4237 3 -~ $ 4986(C) ¢ - $ 9223
Inventory valuation allowance ..................... $ 974 3 2523 8 - $ 1.030(B) § 2467
WAITENY TESETVE. ...veveeveereveecrceeeeceeeenes $ 746 6D § - $ -- $ 577
(A) Amounts written off during the year.

®) Amounts written off during the year or obsolets inventory scld.

C) Primarily due to increase in net operating loss carryforwards.

)] Reduction commensurate with lower sales volume.
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